

National Library of Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4 Service des thèses canadiennes

NOTICE

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30, and subsequent amendments.

AVIS

La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30, et ses amendements subséguents.

.

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

THE EFFECTS OF 2', 3'-DIDEOXYNUCLEOSIDES ON DUCK HEPATITIS B VIRUS REPLICATION: A MODEL FOR INHIBITION OF HEPADNAVIRUS

REPLICATION

ΒY Weixing Luo $\left< \left(\mathbb{G}_{+} \right) \right>$

A THESIS .

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

IN

(VIROLOGY)

DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL MICROBIOLOGY AND INFECTIOUS DISEASES

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

SPRING, 1991



National Library of Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Service

e Service des thèses canadiennes

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

> The author has granted an irrevocable nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library

> ⁶ Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell bies of his/her thesis by any means and in / form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

> The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à la disposition des personnes intéressées.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-66733-8



UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR: WEIXING LUO

TITLE OF THESIS: THE EFFECTS OF 2',3'-DIDEOXYNUCLEOSIDES ON DUCK HEPATITIS B VIRUS REPLICATION: A MODEL FOR INHIBITION OF HEPADNAVIRUS REPLICATION.

DEGREE: DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED: SPRING 1991

PERMISSION IS HEREBY GRANTED TO THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY TO REPRODUCE SINGLE COPIES OF THIS THESIS AND TO LEND OR SELL SUCH COPIES FOR PRIVATE, SCHOLARLY OR SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH PURPOSES ONLY.

THE AUTHOR RESERVES OTHER PUBLICATION RIGHTS, AND NEITHER THE THESIS NOR EXTENSIVE EXTRACTS FROM IT MAY BE PRINTED OR OTHERWISE REPRODUCED WITHOUT THE AUTHOR'S WRITTEN PERMISSION.

(Student's Signature) #103 1005 Fast Broadway (Student's Permanent Address) Vancouver, B. C. V5T1Y5 Canada

Date: De (14 1990.

UNIV. SITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

THE UNDERSIGNED CERTIFY THEY HAVE READ, AND RECOMMEND TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH FOR ACCEPTANCE A THESIS ENTITLED

THE EFFECTS OF 2', 3'-DIDEOXYNUCLEOSIDES ON DUCK HEPATITIS B VIRUS REPLICATION: A MODEL FOR INHIBITION OF HEPADNAVIRUS REPLICATION.

SUBMITTED BY WEIXING LUO

IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

IN MEDICAL MICROBIOLOGY AND INFECTIOUS DISEASES

(DR. D.L.J. TYRRELL) (Supervisor)

(DR. C.E. CASS)

PEPPLER) (DR. M.

MARUSYK

SUMMERS) J.

(External Examiner)

Date: Dec. 6, 1990

To my husband Xiaoning

.

.

and

my parents.

ABSTRACT

I have used a duck hepatitis B virus (DHBV) system to antiviral activity against screen compounds for The results of in vitro screening using hepadnaviruses. DHBV-infected duck primary hepatocyte cultures showed that the purine 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides were strong inhibitors of whereas the pyrimidine 2',3'replication DHI dideoxynucleosides were not. Åmong the purine dideoxynucleosides, 2,6-diaminopurine 2',3'-dideoxynucleoside (ddDAPR) and 2',3'-dideoxyguanosine (ddG) were the most effective inhibitors of DHBV. Both had IC50 values of 0.07 ug/ml. 2',3'-Dideoxyadenosine (ddA) was also an effective inhibitor with an IC₅₀ of 0.12 μ g/ml.

The effects of the dideoxynucleosides were examined in vivo in DHBV-infected ducks and the results correlated reasonably well with the results obtained in vitro. At 10 mg/kg intramuscular (i.m.) twice daily (bid), ddDAPR cleared DHBV DNA from the sera of DHBV-infected ducks within one week. ddA was less effective in vivo than it was in vitro. The pyrimidine analogue, ddC, was ineffective in vitro and showed no inhibitory effect on DHBV replication in vivo. These results suggest that in vitro screening of antiviral agents in the DHBV system is a reasonable predictor of activity in vivo. However, application of results obtained using the DHBV system to the human hepatitis B virus (HBV) requires further investigation.

The half lives of DHBV DNA in serum and its cccDNA form in liver have been examined *in vivo* ir congenitally infected ducks using ddDAPR as an inhibiter to block viral replication. A relatively short half-life of approximate'y 14 hours was determined for DHBV DNA in serum. The cc TA form of DHBV in liver, however, is very stable and possesses a relatively long half life. Since cccDNA plays an important role in the maintenance of persistent hepadnavirus infection, this longer half life for cccDNA has important implications for the use of antiviral agents in attempts to "cure" persistent infections.

I have shown that ddGTP, which is assumed to be the active form of ddG (and ddDAPR since this compound is rapidly deaminated to ddG) in cells, showed only a weak inhibitory effect on DHBV DNA polymerase and reverse transcriptase in isolated replicative core particles. These results were strikingly different from the strong inhibition I observed with ddDAPR both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Therefore, the potent inhibitory activity of ddDAPR on DHBV replication could not be explained by its action on either the DNA polymerase or the reverse transcriptable activities. I have used Southern and Northern blots to examine DHBV DNA and pregenomic RNA in the replicative core particles collected from ducks treated with ddDAPR. The results showed that almost no viral DNA was synthesized after treatment whereas the amount of pregenomic F. is only partially reduced. In addition, the replicative core + cicles isolated after *in vivo* treatment with ddDAPR we can unable to incorporate $[\alpha^{32}P]$ -labelled deoxynucleotides indicating inhibition of DHBV DNA synthesis. On the basis of these results, I have proposed that purine 2',3'dideoxynucleosides bind to the terminal protein to selectively inhibit hepadnavirus replication. This specific site favors dideoxyguanosine analogues since the nucleotide linked directly to the terminal protein is the first dG of the minus strand DNA. Initiation of the minus strand DNA synthesis by dG at the terminal protein appears to be conserved in the hepadnaviruses and could serve as a unique site for specific antiviral therapy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank Dr. D.L.J. Tyrrell for his endless guidance, interest and support throughout the course of these studies. His kindness and enthusiasm deserve special mention.

I would also like to express my gratitude for the time and invaluable suggestions contributed by the members of my supervisory committee, Dr. C. E. Cass and Dr. M. Peppler.

Settion of the share assisted me in these studies. I am particulation indepted to B. Lee, J. Mackey, M. Lemke and R. Vie of an for their involvement in the studies presented the space of and 3. Special thanks to D. Gong for her addistance in the past year and to both D. Tovell and T. Kitos for the time spent on my dissertation. The friendship offered to me by members of Dr. Tyrrell's laboratory and the Department of Medical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases has enriched my stay in Edmonton.

I am grateful to Alberta Foundation for Medical Research for providing me with studentship and research allowance support, thereby making my graduate studies possible. The Medical Research Council of Canada is also acknowledged for their financial contributions to this project.

Thank you to my parents for the moral support they have provided and finally, I would like to express deep appreciation to my husband Xiaoning for his interest, suggestions, and encouragement which have sustained me during my graduate career.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

СНАРІ	TER	PAGE
1.	Introduction	1
2.	The Ability of 2',3'-Dideoxynucleosides to Inhibit Duck Hepatitis B Virus: Antiviral Activity in vitre and in vivo) 4 (
З.	Studies on the Half Lives of DHBV DNA and cccDNA	7.4
4.	Studies on the Mechanism of Action of Purine 2',3' dideoxynucleosides	
5.	General Conclusions and Fucure Prospects	1.1.
	Bibliography	151

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Description	Page
3.1	The effect of age on the clearance of DHBV-DNA	
	from the sera of ddDAPR-treated ducks.	94

LIST OF FIGURES

.

Figure	Description	Page
1.1	Structure and genetic organization of hepadnaviruses	10
1.2	The replicative pathway of the hepadnaviruses	28
. 1.3	Nucleotide sequences at the 5' end of minus strand hepadnavirus DNA	Ň
2.1	Molecular structures of some dideoxynucleosides	45
2.2	Dot hybridization of DNA extracted from DHBV- infected hepatocyte cultures treated with various concentrations of six different 2',3'- dideoxynucleosides	56
2.^	Dose-response curves for dideoxynucleosides in hepatocyte cultures treated for 18 days	59
2.4	Dot hybridization of serum samples from ducks treated with ddDAPR or ddA	61
2.5	Dot hybridization of serum samples from ducks treated with ddDAPR or ddC	64
2.6	Dot hybridization of serum samples collected from ducks prior to, during, and after treatment with ddDAPR	67
3.1	The half life of DHBV DNA in sera of ducks treated with ddDAPR	83
3.2	The half life of DHBV cccDNA in congenitally infected newly hatched ducklings	85

•

Figure	Description	Page
3.3	The half life of DHBV cccDNA in congenitally infected 5-week-old ducklings	88
3.4	Southern blot hybridization of cccDNA extracted from congenitally infected 5-week-old ducklings treated with ddDAPR	90
3.5	The amount of cccDNA extracted from livers of congenitally infected 5-week-old ducklings treated with ddDAPR.	92
4.1	Effect of ddGTP or ddCTP on the incorporation of the anologous nucleotide into DHBV-DNA by polymerase and reverse transcriptase activities of DHBV.	116
4.2	Southern blot hybridization of DNA extracted from replicative core particles	120
4.3	Northern blot hybridization of RNA extracted from replicative core particles	122
4.1	SDS-agarose gel electrophoresis followed by autoradiography of endogenously labelled viral DNA products	126
4.5	Southern blot hybridization of viral DNA from replicative core particles isolated from livers of placebo or ddDAPR treated ducks	129
4.6	SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis and autoradiography of the proteins labelled in a "binding assay" with [³⁵ S]ddATP	133
4.7	Southern blot hybridization of the terminal protein-DNA complex	135

.

4.8 SDS-Urea-PAGE gel electrophoresis and autoradiography of the [1251]-labelled terminal protein-DNA complex before and after digestion with DNase I, Micrococcal nuclease or proteinase K

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ALT	alanine aminotransferase
AST	aspartate aminotransferase
Au Ag	Australian antigen
bid	twice a day
dd	Base pair(3)
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CCCDNA	Covalently closed circular DNA
ddÀ	2',3'-dideoxyadenosine
ddC	2',3'-dideoxycytidine
ddDAPR	2,6-diaminopurine 2',3'-dideoxynucleoside
ddG	2',3'-dideoxyguanosine
ddI	2',3'-dideoxyinosine
ddT	2', 3'-dideoxythymidine
ddATP	2',3'-dideoxyadencsine-5'-triphosphate
ddCTP	2',3'-dideoxycytidane-5'-triphosphate
ddGTP	2',3'-dideoxyguanosine-5'-triphosphate
DHBV	duck hepatitis B virus
DNase	Deoxyribonuclease
DTT	Dithiothreitol
DR1	direct repeat 1
DR2	direct repeat 2
EDTA	ethylene-diaminetetra-acetic acid
EGTA	ethylene glycol-bis(β -aminoethylether)-
	N,N,N',N'-tetra-acetic acid

FBS	fetal bovine serum
GHBV	ground squirrel hepatitis virus
HBsAg	human hepatitis B surface antigen
HBcAg	human hepatitis B core antigen
HBeAg	human hepatitis B e antigen
HBV	human hepatitis B virus
HEPES	N-2-Hydroxyethylpiperazine-N'-2-
	ethanesulphonic acid
IC ₅₀	concentration resulting in 50% inhibition
i.m.	intramuscular
kb	kilobases or kilobase pairs
kDa	kilodaltons
MEM	minimum essential medium
min	minute
ml	milliliter
mRNA	messenger RNA
NaOAc	sodium acetate
nm	nanometer
°C	degree Celsius
ORF	open reading frame
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PMSF	phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride
qid	every 6 hours
q8h	every 8 hours
RNase	ribonuclease
RNasin	ribonuclease inhibitor

•

.

rpm	revolution per minute
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
TCA	trichloroacetic acid
TAE	Tris-Acetate and EDTA buffer
TBE	Tris-Borate and EDTA buffer
TPDC	terminal protein-DNA complex
мнл	woodchuck hepatitis virus
UV	Ultraviolet
μg	micrograms .
μl	microliters
μм	micromolar

.

CHAPTER 1.

۱

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Hepatitis B Virus Infection and Its Associated Diseases.

1.1.1 Hepatitis B Virus Associated Diseases.

Viral hepatitis attributable to hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection presents a broad spectrum of clinical features. Primary HBV infection may be associated with unapparent or subclinical symptoms (60-70% of cases), and therefore does not come to medical attention. The infection may also be associated with acute hepatitis (20-35% of cases), which varies in severity from mild hepatitis at one extreme to fulminant hepatitis at the other extreme (Hollinger, 1985, Gitnick, 1989, Koff, 1989). About 90% of adult patients will recover completely from an infection with HBV. However, 5-10% of patients who suffer with clinical hepatitis or even subclinical symptoms do not recover normally but become chronic carriers of HBV (Hollinger, 1985).

Chronic hepatitis B caused by HBV infection is identified by a positive blood test for hepatitis B virus surface antigen (HBsAg). Chronic persistent hepatitis is not usually considered to be progressive, and the liver function of such patients continues to be normal or near normal. Some phropacally infected patients, however, may progress to stronic active hepatitis which is defined by the presence of e ated liver enzymes [Alanine aminotransferase (ALT) or ate aminotransferase (AST)] and characteristic features A on the histological examination of a liver biopsy. not Chrocic active hepatitis may result in cirrhosis which in The carrier state, whether some cases, leads to death. associated with chronic liver diseases or not, may lead to primary hepatocellular carcinomas (PHC), which is one of the most prevalent carcinomas in man (Di Bisceglie et al., 1988, Seeff and Koff, 1986).

The concept that the chronic carrier state is the leading cause of the development of PHC has been supported by three lines of evidence. Firstly, the geographic distribution and the incidence of HBV infection and PHC have been found to coincide. For example, in 1978, Szmuness (1978) reported that regions in which HBV infection was very highly prevalent also showed high incidences of PHC, observations that suggested a causal relationship between HBV infection and the development of PHC. The second piece of evidence that HBV infection was related to PHC came from the high rate of HBV infection among the patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Several studies conducted in Korea (Chung et al., 1983, Sjogren et al., 1984) indicated that 85%-95% of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma had current

or past infections with HBV, suggesting the possible causal role of HBV in the development of PHC. The most convincing evidence for the linkage of HBV infection with PHC came from a prospective study of 22,707 Taiwanese males (Beasley et al., 1981). The HBsAg carriers in this study were found to develop PHC at a significantly higher rate than the non HBsAg carriers. The results presented by Beasley and coworkers indicate that the relative risk of developing hepatoma is approximately 200 times higher for carriers compared with non-carriers. Further studies of correlation between HBV infection and development of PHC have substantiated the conclusion that HBV plays a primary role in the etiology of PHC (Di Bisceglie et al., 1988, Maupas and Melnick, 1981).

1.1.2 Epidemiology of HBV Infection.

Chronic HBV carriers are found worldwide, with an estimated 300 million chronic carriers. An extensive global survey demonstrated a remarkable pattern to the geographic distribution of HBsAg carriers. Chronic HBV infection was very common in China, Southeast Asia, and sub-Saharan Africa, where 5%-20% of the population was found to be HBsAg positive. It was less frequent in Central and South America, the Middle East, the Mediterranean area, Southern and Eastern Europe, Russia and India where 1%-5% of the population tested HBsAg positive. The incidence of chronic HBV infection was found to be rare in the countries of Western Europe, North America, Australia and New Zealand, with only 0.1%-1% of the

population testing positive for HBsAg (Maupas and Melnick, 1981, Hollinger and Melnick, 1985). In addition, other studies have shown that chronic HBV infection was common among high risk groups such as intravenous drug abusers, transfusion recipients, male homosexuals, medical care personnel and persons of Chinese and Southeast Asian origins (Hoofnagle and Alter, 1984). This review also indicated that in the general US population only 0.2% were HBsAg carriers, while the incidence was 6% in homosexuals, 7% in drug addicts and hemophiliacs, and 10% in Asian-Americans.

1.1.3 Transmission of HBV.

The mode of HBV transmission can be divided into two categories: vertical transmission and horizontal transmission (Hollinger and Melnick 1985). Vertical transmission is defined as the transmission of HBV from an HBV infected mother to her offspring. Although most of these infants acquire the infection at birth, a small percentage (<5%) may acquire the infection in utero (Liu et al., 1990). There are important observations related to vertical several transmission. The ethnic origin of the mother seems to be a factor. Vertical transmission in patients of Chinese origin However, despite the high incidence of HBsAg is common. carriers in sub-Saharan Africa, vertical transmission is less frequent. In this geographical area the disease is acquired in early childhood, but the mechanism of transmission remains unclear (Ayoola, 1988). Another important factor affecting

vertical transmission is the antigenic status of the mother. Several investigators (Beasley et al., 1977, Okada et al., 1976, Skinhoj, et al., 1976) reported that infants have a much higher chance of becoming chronic carriers if the mother is HBeAq positive. In contrast anti-eAg positive mothers, despite being HBsAg positive, rarely transmit HBV infection to their infants. This indicated that the presence of infectious virus particles in the sera of mothers would result in vertical transmission, since HBeAg positive patients are most likely to be HBV DNA positive in sera as well (Sallberg, et al. 1988). The large number of HBsAg carriers throughout the world provides an important reservoir for vertical transmission which has, in turn, been considered the most important mechanism for the maintenance of high HBV carrier rates in certain geographic areas, such as in Southeast Asia.

Horizontal transmission of HBV can take place by percutaneous transmission, through sexual contact or close household contact. Percutaneous transmission occurs when blood transfusion recipients receive blood from HBV positive blood donors or by direct transfer of the virus among intravenous drug abusers who share contaminated needles or syringes. It may also occur among persons living in areas where medical care is poor and decontamination of medical tools may not be complete (Hollinger and Melnick, 1985, Ayoola, 1988). Sexual transmission is not surprising since

the virus has been identified in semen and cervical secretions (Ganem, 1982, Yoffe, et al. 1990). Close household contact between infected and non-infected individuals is another mode for the horizontal transfer of HBV. The infection may be transmitted via contact between family members as demonstrated, for example, by the study of HBV infection in Italy families (Mazzotta et al, 1990).

The development of an effective vaccine for HBV has decreased the incidence of this disease in some high risk groups. However, the cost of the vaccine has precluded its widespread use even in most industrialized countries. Several countries now advocate HBsAg screening during pregnancy and routine vaccination of newborn infants to break the cycle of vertical transmission. This practice may eventually decrease the incidence of HBsAg carriers.

1.2 The Hepadnaviridae Family.

1.2.1 History of Hepatitis B Virus.

HBV was identified as the etiological agent in viral hepatitis by Blumberg and his colleagues (Blumberg *et al.*, 1965). The sequence of events began in 1965 with the discovery of an unidentified antigen from the serum of an Australian aborigine. This antigen was called the Australian (Au) antigen, and was subsequently detected with high frequency in the sera of patients with leukemia, Down s syndrome and hepatitis (Blumberg et al., 1965). Further research revealed that the antigen was transmissible through sera and was associated with acute viral hepatitis. Thus the etiological role of "Au" antigen in "serum" hepatitis was established (Blumberg et al., 1967, Blumberg, 1977).

In 1970, Dane and Cameron (1970) purified virus particles from the sera of Au antigen positive hepatitis patients. Electron microscopy of the purified product identified three distinct particle for as: a spherical particle approximately 42 nm in diameter, a spherical particle of 22 nm, and a 22-nm filamentous particle. The 42nm spherical particle is composed of an outer shell and an inner nucleocapsid associated with the viral genome. This particle, referred to as the Dane particle, is the complete infectious form of the virus. The other two particles, both 22 nm in diameter and having either spherical or filamentous morphology, are not infectious. These latter two particles are found in abundance in the sera of infected individuals. The Australian antigen was identified as a component of the viral envelope and is now called hepatitis B surface antigen.

1.2.2 Genetics of HBV.

Characterization of HBV has revealed it to be different from other mammalian viruses (Blum *et al.*, 1989, Ganem and Varmus, 1987). The genome of the HBV virion consists of a

.

small circular DNA molecule existing as a partially double stranded structure with a single stranded region of variable length (figure 1.1 A, Robinson et al. 1974, Summers et al., 1975, Landers et al., 1977). Of the two DNA strands, the full-length strand is complementary to viral mRNA and is termed the minus strand, while the incomplete DNA molecule possesses the same polarity as viral mRNA and is therefore The minus strand has a 9 designated as the plus strand. nucleotide terminal redundant sequence, thus it is a little longer than one unit length (Lien, et al., 1987). A procein is covalently attached to the 5' end of the minus strand (Gerlich and Robinson, 1980). The incomplete strand contains a nucleotide sequence of only 50%-80% of the length of the minus strand. The 5' end of the plus strand is linked to an oligoribonulectide and is located at the region of 50-300 nucleotides downstream from the 5' end of minus strand (Lien et al., 1986, Will et al., 1987). Through this cohesive overlap between the two strands, the circular structure of the two linear forms of viral DNA is maintained. The circular structure of partially double stranded DNA thus consists of a covalently bound protein at the 5' end of the minus strand DNA which has a short redundant sequence and a gap in the plus strand (Fig. 1.1. A, Summers et al., 1975, Lander et al., 1977).

Viral DNA polymerase activity has been found associated with the Dane particle preparation. This can incorporate

Figure 1.1.

Structure and genetic organization of mammalian hepadnaviruses (A) and DHBV (B). The two inner circles represent the two strands of genomic DNA and the dashed line shows the warying length of the plus strand DNA in mammalian hepadnaviruses. The plus strand of the genome in DHBV is almost complete. Two direct repeat regions are indicated by DR1 and DR2. A protein primer at the 5' end of the minus strand is indicated by the symbol (\diamond) and the RNA primer of the plus strand is indicated by (\checkmark). The open arrows represent the ORFs with different initiation codons in each ORF. The outer wavy lines represent the major RNA transcripts produced by the hepadnaviruses.



radiolabelled deoxynucleotides into DNA *in vitro* as detected by acid precipitation (Kaplan *et al.*,1973). This enzymatic activity has been identified in virion preparations (Dane particles) as well as in virus core particles which were obtained from Nonidet P-40 treated virions (Robinson and Greenman, 1974). The radiolabelled deoxynucleotides were found to be principally incorporated into the plus strand near the 3' end, indicating that the DNA polymerase of the virus can repair the single strand gap to make the virus genome a fully double stranded molecule (Summers *et al.*, 1975, Landers *et al.*, 1977, Hruska *et al.*, 1977).

1.2.3 Hepatitis B-Like Viruses in Animals.

The DNA polymerase activity associated with HBV in the serum provides a convenient method for the detection of similar hepatitis B viruses in other species. The first HBV related virus identified was found in a colony of woodchucks (Marmota monax) in the Philadelphia Zoo (Summers et al. 1978). It had been noted that the most frequent cause of death in these animals was hepatocellular carcinoma associated with preexisting chronic active hepatitis. i. viral etiology of the hepatitis and hepatoma in these animals was suggested by Robert Snyder, a veterinarian at the Philadelphia Zoo. Following his suggestion, Summers et al. (1978) demonstrated DNA polymerase activity in serum camples from woodchucks which suggested the presence of a HBV-like virus in these animals. Further studies confirmed the

· ·

existence of a virus with a genomic structure and serological The antigen of the virus markers similar to those of HBV. core particles was able to react with antisera prepared for HBV indicating antigenic cross reactivity between these two viruses (Summers et al., 1978, Werner et al.,1979). Another animal hepadnavirus was found in the Beechey ground squirrels (Spermophilus beecheyi) living in a region of northern California (Marion et al., 1980). Characterization of this virus revealed similarities in ultrastructure, genomic structure and enzymatic activity to HBV (Marion et al., 1980, Ganem et al., 1982). An avian hepatitis virus constitutes the fourth member of the hepadnavirus family and was first detected in domestic Pekin ducks from the People's Republic In the process of attempting to of China (Summers, 1981). pass this avian virus to Pekin ducks in North America, Mason et al. (1980) found that some of the Pekin ducks commercially purchased in the USA were already infected with a similar virus. Although the avian hepatitis virus is more divergent from HBV than are the other animal hepatitis viruses, the avian hepatitis virus has many characteristics in common with all members of the hepadnavirus family. There have been reports of hapatitis viruses in other animals, however, woodchuck hepatitis virus (WHV), ground squirrel hepatitis virus (GSHV) and duck hepatitis B virus (DHBV) are the best characterized animal hepadnaviruses (Marion, 1988).

1.2.4 Properties of Hepadnaviruses.

The characteristics of hepatitis B viruses have been summarized by Summers (1981) and Marion (1988). The viruses in the three mammalian species are quite similar to each other, while the avian virus diverges somewhat from the other members of the family. The virions of HBV, WHV, GSHV and DHBV are all spherical in form with sizes ranging from 40 to 47 nm. Viral particles from HBV, WHV and GSHV exhibit CsCl buoyant densities in the range of 1.225-1.24 g/ml, however, DHBV particles have a relatively low buoyant density of 1.16The sera from hepatitis B infected mammalian hosts g/ml. contains an excess of both spherical and filamentous forms of surface antigen particles, whereas in DHBV infected animals, the sera contains only large, convoluted spherical particles in addition to infectious particles. The core antigen (cAg) and surface antigens (sAg) of WHV and GSHV can cross react with those of HBV. No cross reactivity of cAg and sAg has been found between DHBV and HBV.

The genome size of the viruses has been identified as 3,188 base pairs (bp) for HBV, 3,308-3,320 bp for WHV, 3,311 bp for GSHV and 3,021 bp for DHBV. Although the single stranded gap in the genome varies, it is generally small in the DHBV genome, i.e. the DHBV genome has a high percentage of double stranded DNA (Lien et al., 1987). In the case of mammalian viruses, the double stranded region varies from 50% to 80% of the genome. The nucleotide sequence homology between the genome of HBV and the animal viruses is about 70%

for WHV, 55% for GSHV and 40% for DHBV (Tiollais et al., 1985).

Hepatitis B viruses are active in a narrow host range. HBV can infect man and some higher primates, such as chimpanzees; WHV only infects woodchucks; GSHV can infect both ground squirrels and woodchucks; DHBV has been reported to be infectious in ducks and geese (Marion 1988). Research on the hepadnaviruses has been hampered by the inability of these viruses to infect conventional laboratory animals. Infection with hepatitis B virus is hepatotropic, although viral DNA has been detected in other organs, such as pancreases, lymphocytes and spleen. The majority of virus replication however occurs in hepatocytes.

Based on their distinct properties, HBV, WHV, GSHV and DHBV have been classified into a family designated hepadnaviridae (Gusc, 1986) and the hepatitis-B-like viruses thus are called hepadnaviruses.

1.3 Molecular Biology of Hepadnaviruses.

1.3.1 Genomic Organization of the Viruses.

Hepadnavirus DNA extracted from virions has been cloned and the complete nucleotide sequences of HBV, WHV, GSHV and DHBV have been established (Galibert et al., 1979, Galibert et al., 1982, Kodama et al., 1985, Seeger et al., 1984, Mandant et al., 1984, Sprengel et al., 1985). Analysis of three reading frames of the nucleotide sequences has revealed that, in all four viruses, the open reading frames (ORF) for gene expression reside only on the minus strand DNA. There are four ORFs found in the mammalian hepadnavirus genomes, and three ORFs in the DHBV genome as shown in figure 1.1.

The key feature to be noted in figure 1.1 is the compact organization of hepadnavirus genomes (Miller et al., 1989). The coding sequences for protein products are found in all three possible reading frames and the ORF for the P gene overlaps each of the other viral protein ORFs. The amino acid sequence of each ORF is unique by utilization of alternative reading frames although one ORF overlaps with the other. The ORF encoding the surface antigens (ORF S) is relatively complex and consists of two parts. The S gene is located in the 3' portion of the coding region. Upstream of the S gene is a region designated pre S. There are two inphase frames in the pre S region: pre S2 immediately precedes S gene and pre S1 precedes pre S2. Nucleocapsid polypeptides are encoded by ORF C. Similar to the surface antigen gene structure, ORF C contains the C gene and pre C regions. The longest open reading frame, ORF P, is presumed to code for the viral polymerase. This ORF encompasses the whole ORF S and overlaps with ORF C and, in the mammalian viruses, ORF X. The shortest open reading frame is ORF X which is present only in the mammalian hepadnaviruses.

1.3.2 Gene Products of Hepadnaviruses.

Hepadnaviruses surface antigen particles isolated from the sera of hepatitis B virus infected individuals have been analyzed by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. These analyses have revealed that various sizes of surface antigen polypeptides are present on the virus envelope (Feitelson et al., 1983). The major surface antigen (sAg) encoded by gene S ranges from a molecular weight of 17 kDa in DHBV, to 22 kDa in WHV and GSHV, and 24 kDa in HBV (Schlichit et al., 1987a, Marion et al., 1983, Feitelson et al., 1983). Additional polypeptides with molecular weights greater than the major surface antigen are found in all hepadnaviruses, but are present in smaller amounts than the major surface antigen. The larger molecular weight gene products (pre sAg) are encoded by the ORF including pre S and S regions (Feitelson et al., 1983, Schlicht et al., 1987). Glycosylated versions of these surface proteins, namely S, pre S $_2$ S, and pre S $_1$ S $_2$ S, have been detected in HBV, WHV and GSHV, but there is no evidence for the presence of glycosylated forms of DHBV surface proteins (Schlichit et al., 1987, Pugh et al., 1987). Studies on the structure and function of hepatitis B surface antigens suggest that sAg is a structural protein that has little or no immunogenicity, whereas the preS proteins with N-terminals exposed on the surface of the virion are more immunogenic (Heermann et al., 1984, Tiollais et al., 1985, Neurath et al., 1985, Schlichit et al., 1987). A hepatocyte

binding activity has been speculated for HBV pre S2 protein, because the pre S2 encoded sequence contains a receptor for polymerized human serum albumin (pHSA) and the same receptor has been found in hepatocytes. It is thus postulated that pHSA mediates the attachment of HBV to hepatocytes (Tiollais, et al., 1985). A similar binding activity has been suggested for the pre S1 protein as well (Neurath, et al., 1986). However, using recombinant hepatitis B virus surface antigen as a probe to test the cell receptor in various cell lines, Peeples, et al. (1987) have demonstrated that small sAg alone can act as the viral attachment protein, suggesting the possible role of sAg in viral attachment to host cells. However, such a function has not been demonstrated in WHV (Pohl et al., 1986). In addition, a recent report by Summers et al. (1990) provides evidence that viral surface antigen plays a role in regulation of viral covalently closed circular DNA (cccDNA) pools and in the establishment of persistent infections.

Core antigen (cAg), the principal structural protein of the viral nucleocapsid, is encoded by the C gene. The amino acid composition of cAg has been determined from the nucleotide sequence analysis of the C gene and reveals a conserved, highly basic carboxy terminal, which may be related to the nucleic acid binding function of this protein (Mandart *et al.*, 1984, Petit and Pillot, 1985). Phosphorylated forms of cAg have been found in core particles

isolated from the cytoplasm of infected hepatocytes, but not in the core particles obtained from virions, suggesting a possible link between dephosphorylation and virion maturation (Roossinck and Siddiqui, 1987, Pugh *et al.*, 1987). The synthesis of pre C polypeptide has been found to be independent from the synthesis of cAg since mutations in the pre C region do not affect the production of cAg or virus formation (Jean-Jean *et al.*, 1989, Schlicht *et al.*, 1987b). The expression of pre C, however, is required for secretion of eAg, a processed peptide from the ORF of C which is found in circulating blood (Roossinch *et al.*, 1986, Schlicht *et al.*, 1987b).

It was expected that the longest ORF of hepadnavirus would code for the viral polymerase, an enzyme associated with the virion or core particles (Kaplan et al., 1973). In addition, it has been suggested that the viral polymerase bears multiple functions (Summers and Mason, 1982, Robinson et al., 1987, Khudyakov and Markhov, 1989). Recently, several experiments have provided convincing evidence to support the prediction that the longest ORF encodes for the viral polymerase. This ORF would code for a protein of approximately 90 kDa. Employing a technique of direct detection within the gel of enzymatic activity of proteins following SDS-PAGE electrophoresis, Bavand and Laub (1988) were able to demonstrate DNA polymerase (DNA pol) and reverse transcriptase (RTase) activities associated with HBV proteins
secreted by a transfected hepatoma cell line. The protein bands found to contain these two polymerase activities were located at 70 kDa for the major activity and at 90 kDa for a minor activity. The protein in the major band reacted with antisera directed against the carboxy terminus of the ORF P gene product, suggesting that this 70 kDa peptide is derived from ORF P (Bavand et al., 1989). During the study of the enzymatic activity of DHBV-associated polymerase, a group of investigators (Bosch et al., 1988, Radziwill et al., 1988, Bartenschlagen and Schaller, 1988) have found that a DHBV P gene product is tightly bound to the 5'end of the viral minus This has led to the belief that the terminal strand DNA. protein is encoded by the N-terminal domain of P gene. Furthermore, Radziwill et al. (1990) have contributed to our understanding of HBV biology by constructing a series of the P gene mutants of HBV and assaying the subsequent gene products for biological activity by transient expression in tissue culture. In addition to locating the polymerase and terminal protein domains, they have identified an RNase H active domain residing near the C-terminus of the P gene. They have noted that the mutants of the P gene can be complemented in trans by wild type P gene product, but not by a second P gene mutant. This indicates that the P $q \in n \in \mathbb{R}$ The functional functions as a single translational unit. domains on the P gene are arranged in the following order: terminal protein, spacer, RTase/DNA pol and RNase H. Recently, Noonan et al. (1990) have cloned the intact P gene into a baculovirus system. The P gene product expressed in insect cells was found to be a 90 kDa protein and was able to react with the antiserum directed against a synthetic peptide representing the C-terminal sequence of the P gene. However, enzymatic activity of the expressed P gene product has not been detected as yet.

The smallest ORF of hepadnaviruses, designated X, is only found in the mammalian viruses. In HBV this ORF has the capacity to encode for a protein of approximately 17 kDa in The gene of ORF X has been expressed in vite: using size. recombinant DNA. This X gene product has been identicied by immunoprecipitation with specific antisera produced against X gene peptides as well as with sera from HBV infected individuals (Pfaff et al., 1987, Siddiqui et al., 1987 Koike et al., 1988,). The function of the X gene has not been completely determined. Recent studies by Wu et al (1990) suggest that the X gene product has some protein kinase activity. It also has been demonstrated that the X gene product can transactivate HBV and sequences of some other viruses (Spandau and Lee, 1988, Twu and Robinson, 1989). The X gene is speculated to have a possible role in the development of hepatocellular carcinoma. This is implied from the fact that some mammalian viruses contain the X gene and induce hepatocellular carcinomas in their host animals. The duck virus lacks an X gene and persistent infection with DHBV rarely results in PHC. In an effort to define the role

of X gene in the etiology of PHC, studies with transgenic mice have produced variable results. Earlier studies failed to show a high incidence of tumors in transgenic mice (expressing the X gene), however, a recent study by Kim *et al.* (1990) has shown that two of three strains of transgenic mice developed hepatocellular adenomas and hepatocellular carcinomas at ages of 9 and 11 months, respectively. This indicates that this product of the virus may be one of the elements involved in development of hepatocellular carcinoma. However, tumors have been produced in mice transgenic for the HBsAg. There animals show considerable inflammation of the liver and inflammation alone may be a significant factor (Chisari, *et al.*, 1989).

1.3.3 Gene Transcripts and Signal Sequences for Gene Expression.

Two classes of RNA transcripts are present in major amounts in hepadnavirus infected livers: genomic and subgenomic transcripts (figure 1.1) (Cattaneo and Schaller 1984, Moroy et al., 1985, Enders et al., 1985, Buscher et al., 1985). The largest genomic RNA transcripts are initiated in or upstream of the pre C region and ended inside the C gene. They encompass the entire genome and are slightly redundant (approximately 200 nucleotides). The other major transcripts are subgenomic and contain one major species and two minor species in the case of mammalian viruses or two major species of transcripts in the avian virus. The 5' end of the subgenomic RNA transcripts begins upstream to pre S, or near pre S2 and terminates at the same site as pregenomic RNA in the C gene. The hepadnavirus RNA transcripts are polyadenylated, have plus-stranded polarity and were thought to be unspliced. However, it has recently been reported that spliced transcripts are found in HBV infected cells (Su et al., 1989, Chen et al., 1989, Suzuki et al., 1989). The function of these spliced transcripts remains to be clarified.

The biological function of each major transcript is suggested from the ORFs covered by each transcript. Genomic RNA transcripts are thought to act as mRNA for core antigen or e-antigen and polymerase gene expression and serve as templat s for reverse transcription. The internally located initiation site of ORF P on the genomic RNA transcript raises the question of how viral polymerase production occurs. Two independent groups (Chang et al., 1989, Schlicht et al., 1989) have reported de novo translation of the polymerase with initiation occurring at a unique P gene AUG, rather than as a result of a frame shift from gene C . Furthermore, the reported existence of spliced transcripts in HBV infected cells suggests a possible rcle of the spliced RNA species in polymerase translation (Chen et al., 1989). Subgenomic transcripts are principally responsible for surface antigen expression.

There are two direct repeats located in the cohesive ends of the viral DNA genome. Each direct repeat is about 11 nucleotides long and they are separated by a spacer of 50-200 nucleotides. In all hepadnaviruses the two direct repeats are highly conserved and play an important role during viral replication (Miller et al., 1999).

There are a few types of sequences that appear to be involved in control of hepadnavirus gene expression. Although the viscus relies on cellular RNA polymerase II to perform t as of transcription (Ganem and Varmus, 1987), ther. TATA" box like sequence found at or near the positions cted for RNA polymerase binding (Miller, et al. 1989). This is interesting because we do not know how cellular RNA polymerase recognizes the transcriptional signal. However, the viral genome contains conserved regions at or near the predicted positions for promoters. Thus it has been suggested that the promoter elements may be unique in hepadnaviruses (Miller et al., 1989). Only one polyadenylation signal has been located in the entire genome and this signal resides within the C gene region. From analysis of the 3' ends of hepadnavirus transcripts, this polyadenylation signal seems to be responsible for polyadenylation of all the viral transcripts. There are two enhancer elements and a glucocorticoid-responsive element present in the hepadnavirus genome, and they may be involved in the regulation of viral gene expression (Bulla and

Siddiqui, 1988, Miller et al., 1989 Lopez-Cabrera, et al., 1990).

1.4 Replication of Hepadnaviruses.

Elucidation of the DHBV replication mechanism by Summers and Mason (1982) is a landmark in the molecular biology of hepadnaviruses. The observation that DHBV infected duck liver contains a large amount of free minus strand DNA lead these investigators to attempt to isolate the viral replicative complex and to study minus strand DNA synthesis. The isolated replicative complexes were found to be capable of both plus and minus strand DNA synthesis when assayed by endogenous labelling. This is in contrast to the mature virion which mostly repairs the single stranded gap in plus Further analysis of endogenously labelled strand DNA. products from the replicative complexes showed that the synthesis of minus strand DNA was resistant to actinomycin D, which inhibits DNA-directed DNA synthesis but not RNAdirected DNA synthesis. In addition, the minus strand DNA was sensitive to S1 nuclease, an enzyme that selectively degrades single stranded polynucleotides. When the extracted nucleic acids from cores were tested as templates for avian myeloblastosis virus (AMV) DNA polymerase, these templates were sensitive to the treatment with ribonuclease (RNase), indicating that an RNA-directed DNA synthesis was involved.

Since the newly synthesized minus strand DNA product is mainly single stranded in form, as defined by sensitivity to S1 nuclease, the RNA template must be degraded as the minus strand is synthesized. Synthesis of plus strand DNA, on the other hand, is sensitive to actinomycin D but more resistant to S1 nuclease digestion than is minus strand DNA, suggesting that plus strand DNA is synthesized from a DNA template and remains bound to the template. These observations led Summers and Mason to propose a general model for replication of the genome of hepatitis B-like viruses. Ιt has similarities to the replication of retroviruses in which the replication flows from genomic RNA to DNA intermediates and back to genomic RNA. In the hepadnavirus the information flow is from genomic DNA to an RNA intermediate and back to genomic DNA.

The hepadnavirus replication process has been studied in detail for DHBV (Summers and Mason, 1982, Mason *et al.*, 1982, Molnar-Kimber *et al.*, 1984, Lien *et al.*, 1986), for GSHV by Seeger *et al.* (1985) and for HBV from both chimpanzee and human sources by Will *et al.* (1987). The pregenomic RNA, which is used as the template for the minus strand DNA synthesis, is heterogeneous at its 5' end. It has been suggested that the shortest species are most likely utilized in viral replication (Enders, *et al.* 1987, Seeger *et al.*, 1985, Will *et al.*, 1987). Synthesis of minus strand DNA is initiated within DR1 and primed by a protein (Gerlich and Pobinson, 1980, Molnar-Kimber et al., 1983, Lien et al., 1987). The complete minus strand DNA possesses a short terminal redundancy. Synthesis of plus strand DNA is initiated adjacent to the DR2 sequence and primed with a 5' end capped oligoribonucleotide. The sequence of this oligonucleotide was found to be identical to the 5' end region of pregenomic RNA, suggesting that the primer originates from the degraded pregenomic RNA template (Lien et al., 1986).

The model for hepadnavirus replication shown in figure 1.2 is a composite of the initial replication pathway proposed by Summers and Mason (1982) and subsequent details contributed by Lien *et al.* (1986), Tuttleman *et al.* (1986a), Seeger *et al.* (1986) and Will *et al.* (1987). The complete replicative process can be divided into four major steps:

i. Conversion of genomic DNA (RC) into cccDNA.

The earliest event in viral replication following liver cell infection is the generation of covalently closed circular DNA (cccDNA) in the cell nucleus (Mason *et al.*, 1983) (Fig. 1.2 a and b). Detectable levels of this cccDNA appear as early as 6 hours post-infection, preceding the synthesis of the major RNA transcript and the reverse transcription step (Tagawa *et al.*, 1986). Using BUdR labelling of intracellular DHBV DNA and isopynic CsCl density gradient centrifugation to isolate total cccDNA, Tuttleman *et* Figure 1.2.

The replication pathway of the hepadnaviruses. Viral DNA strands are shown by the solid lines and RNA is represented with wavy lines. Two direct repeat regions are shown by open boxes marked DR1 and DR2. The symbol (\bigcirc) in the DR1 box represents the terminal protein.



al. (1986a) have shown that cccDNA is amplified from newly synthesized relaxed circular DNA produced in the cytoplasm through *de novo* synthesis, rather than from semiconservative replication of preexisting cccDNA in the nucleus. Conversion of the partially double stranded genome into cccDNA requires removal of both the short redundant sequence with the primer protein at the 5' end of minus strand DNA and the oligoribonucleotide at the 5' end of plus strand.DNA. This results in a complete minus strand and gap in the plus strand which must be filled before the ends of both strands can be ligated into circles.

The pool of cccDNA located in the cell nucleus is maintained at a certain size which seems to be regulated to a level that is sufficient for virus production but below the cytotoxic level for the host cell. This regulation of viral pool size may be very important in the establishment of persistent infection (Tuttleman *et al.*, 1986a). Recent work reported by Summers *et al.* (1990) has shown that envelope proteins have a negative regulatory effect on the amplification of cccDNA. The principal function of cccDNA is to serve as template for production of mRNA and pregenomic RNA.

ii. Synthesis and encapsidation of pregenomic RNA.

Pregenomic RNA is transcribed from the cccDNA template in the nucleus and it is assumed that host RNA polymerase is involved in this transcription (Ganem and Varmus, 1987). Transcription is initiated upstream of the polyadenylation site and near or within the pre C region of the genome. Termination of transcription occurs at the original polyadenylation site after completion of the complete genomic transcript. Thus the poly(A) addition site is utilized upon first passage, but is utilized on the second passage. As a result, the transcription product is longer than the genome and contains a terminal redundancy with two DR1 sequences, one located at the 5' end and the other near the poly(A) tail at the 3' end, and one DR2 sequence adjacent to the DR1 region at the 3' end (Fig.1.1 and Fig. 1.2 c).

The polyadenylated pregenomic RNA is transported to the cytoplasm and encapsidated into the nucleocapsid of the virus. By expressing the C gene products in *E. coli*, Birnbaum and Nassal (1990) have found that both the RNA transcript encapsidation into core particles and the particle stability are dependent on expression of the arginine rich region located near the carboxy terminal end of the core protein although the entire arginine mich domain of the core protein is not necessary for assembly. It is known that the 5' end of pregenomic RNA is heterogeneous, but which RNA transcripts are preferred for encapsidation remains an interesting question. Enders et al. (1987) have examined GSHV pregenomic RNA packaging and have shown that only the shortest of the genomic RNA species is found in the core

particles. It is known that at least pregenomic RNA, viral polymerase and the terminal protein which originates from the N-terminal portion of the polymerase are assembled with the nucleocapsid protein (C gene product) into a core particle.

iii. Synthesis of the minus strand of DNA.

Viral minus strand DNA is synthesized by reverse transcriptase within core particles in the cytoplasm. By S1 nuclease mapping and 5' primer extension, several investigators (Molner-Kimker *et al.*, 1983, Seeger *et al.*, 1986, Will *et al.*, 1987) have identified the initiation site of minus strand DNA synthesis within the DR1 region, beginning with the third residue from the 3' end of DR1 (Fig. 1.2 d). As shown in figure 1.3, the sequence linked to the terminal protein begins with deoxyguanosine for all the hepadnaviruses. The sequences are Protein-d(GAA...) for HBV, Protein-d(GAA...) for GSHV and protein-d(GTA...) for DHBV.

It is interesting to note that the first nucleotide linked to the terminal protein is conserved in all hepadnavirus sequences. This may be related to recognition of deoxyguanosine by viral polymerase, or more specifically by the terminal protein domain of the polymerase, for the initiation of the minus strand DNA synthesis. By genetic analysis of the origin of minus strand DNA synthesis in WHV, Seeger *et al.* (1990) have shown that the terminal protein can be linked to dG or dA, but not to any pyrimidine

Figure 1.3.

. •

Nucleotide sequences at the 5' end of the minus strand DNA of HBV (A), GSHV (B) and DHBV (C). The DR1 region is contained in the square. The shaded structure represents the terminal protein.



deoxynucleotide. Their results suggest a preference for purine deoxynucleotides for recognition by terminal protein.

There are two DR1 regions available for initiation of minus strand DNA synthesis (Fig.1.2 d). It is assumed that the virus uses the DR1 region at the 3' end of pregenomic RNA for initiation since the synthesis can be completed without interruption (Ganem and Varmus, 1987) and the 5' end of the pregenomic RNA coincides exactly with the 3' end of the minus strand DNA. The RNA template is degraded by RNase H as the synthesis of minus strand DNA proceeds. The 3' end of minus strand DNA passes through the DR1 region at the 5' end of RNA transcript and shortly thereafter synthesis is terminated. Therefore, the minus strand DNA also has a short terminal redundant sequence which may be important for the synthesis of the second DNA strand.

iv. Synthesis of the plus strand of DNA.

Sequence data of DHFV have shown that an oligoribonucleotide linked to the big and of plus strand DNA is identical to the sequence of the 5' end of pregenomic RNA, suggesting that this oligoribonucleotide primer may be derived from the pregenomic RNA template. The physical mapping of the DHBV genome has shown that the 5' end of the plus strand of DNA is located in the DR2 region (Fig.1.2 f and g). If the primer oligoribonucleotide for plus strand synthesis comes from the 5' end of the RNA template, it has

to be upstream of the 5' end of the plus strand to act as a primer. Since the sequences in DR1 and DR2 are identical, it is presumed that the oligoribonucleotide primer must be transferred from DR1 to DR2 at the beginning of plus strand synthesis (Lien *et al.*, 1986, Will *et al.*, 1987). The synthesis of the plus strand of DNA thus begins near the DR2 region and the DNA elongates until it is close to the DR1 region at the 5'end of minus strand DNA (Fig.1.2 g). At this point, an intramolecular template switch occurs (Fig. 1.2 h). This template switch benefits from the short terminal redundant sequence of minus strand DNA that allows the short pieces of plus strand sequence to be stabilized at the 3' end of the minus strand (Fig. 1.2 h). After this, elongation of the plus strand can continue without interruption.

It has been found that completion of the plus strand synthesis is not necessary for maturation of the virus. Budding of virions takes place during plus strand DNA synthesis. It has been reported that RNA:DNA hybrids were detected in Dane particles from human plasma (Miller *et al.*, 1984). Thus the signal for secretion of the virus into the extracellular circulation may not be directly related to the initiation of second strand DNA synthesis. However, particles with RNA:DNA hybrids represent a small portion of the total virions. In most cases at least part of the plus strand synthesis is complete before virion budding.

1.5 Antiviral Therapy for HBV Infection.

1.5.1 Therapy for Chronic Hepatitis B Virus Infection.

Although there are millions of chronic HBsAg carriers in the world, currently there is no effective treatment for chronic hepatitis B viral infection. Attempts to treat carriers have included administration chronic of immunosuppressive and/or antiviral agents. For example, studies using corticosteroids, interferon and adenine arabinoside (araA) have given variable results. No therapy used alone, or in combination, has been able to produce a consistent benefit (Czaja, 1986, Hoofnagle and Jones, 1989). Immunosuppressive drugs, such as corticosteroids which are used for autoimmune chronic hepatitis (HBsAg⁻), showed no therapeutic effect on chronic hepatitis B (HBsAg⁺) with either short or long term treatment and in fact may be harmful (Lam et al., 1981, Hoofnagle et al., 1986b, Tygstrup et al., 1986). Treatment with araA or its water soluble phosphorylated form, araA 5'-monophosphate (araAMP), was able to decrease the HBV DNA polymerase activity in the sera of some chronic hepatitis patients and, with one month treatment courses, seroconversion as well as inhibition of viral replication occurs in some patients (Weller et al., 1982). The treatment with araAMP also clears the expression of HBcAg and improves the histological features of chronic active hepatitis in approximately one third of the patients treated

(Tyrrell et al, 1938). Unfortunately, other clinical trials have failed to demonstrate consistent beneficial effects of treatment with araAMP in chronic hepatitis B and treatment has been associated with severe neurotoxicity (Hoofnagle et al., 1984, Weller et al., 1985, Garcia et al., 1987). Thus this agent was subsequently withdrawn from use in humans (Hoofnagle and Jones, 1989).

Numerous interferon trials have reported the use of interferon treatment for chronic hepatitis B (Davis and Hoofnagle, 1986, Perrillo, 1989a). These studies are difficult to compare because the individual trials differed in dose, length of treatment, and type and source of interferon. Nevertheless, the information obtained from these studies demonstrates that alpha interferon has consistently shown beneficial effects in chronic hepatitis B (Perrillo, 1989b, Lok et al., 1989). It has been shown that approximately one third of patients respond to alpha interferon therapy with a sustained loss of viral replication markers from sera (Hoofnagle et al., 1988, Perrillo et al, 1990). The effect of alpha interferon is dose-dependent, however, and treatment with higher doses is more frequently associated with serious side effects (Lok et al., 1989). The best response is likely to be achieved when interferon acts in a dual fashion to augment the immune response to HBV as well as to inhibit viral replication. It generally requires a minimum of 3 months of treatment (Perrillo, 1989b).

3...

In order to increase the efficacy of interferon, therapy with interferon in combination with other agents has been used in the treatment of chronic hepatitis B. Scullard et al. (1981) in a trial of interferon combined with araA reported that the combined treatment is better than that with wither agent alone. A similar therapeutic trial reported by Sarcia et al. (1987), however, showed that serious neurotoxicity resulted from araAMP and interferon used in combination. A controlled trial using "prednisone priming" (pretreatment with prednisone starting with large doses and tapering over 6 weeks) followed by recombinant alpha interferon suggested that this approach would increase the rate of response to alpha interferon therapy (Perrillo et al., 1988). In this study, a sustained loss of HBV DNA was observed in 9 of 18 treated patients, HBeAg disappeared in eight and HBsAg became negative in four. In contrast, only 3 of 21 untreated control subjects underwent spontaneous HBeAg seroconversion and none lost HBsAg. The value of "prednisone priming" has not been substantiated in other studies (Perrillo et al, 1990) and most studies using interferon do net have a prednisone priming period. It has been demonstrated from clinical studies that characteristics of the patients, such as age of HBV acquisition, sex, lifestyle, level of ALT, 1 vel of HBV DNA, race and HIV seropositivity, are very in .t determinants for a positive response (Perrillo, 1989b).

1.5.2 Screening for Effective Antiviral Agents for Hopadnaviruses.

Hepadnaviruses have their own DNA polymerase and reverse transcriptase which offer targets for antiviral agents. Searching for compounds that are inhibitory in isolated preparations of viral polymerase has been a common method used to screen for anti-HBV drugs. Agents which have been tested include intercalating agents (Hirschman and Garfinkel, 1978), antiviral agents effective against retroviruses (Farranye et al., 1989, Nordenfelt et al., 1987) and nucleoside analogues (Tao et al., 1988, Lofgren et al., 1989). Some of these compounds have shown inhibitory activity on isolated core preparations containing DNA polymerase activity (Hirschman et al., 1978), however when tested on patients these compounds have not produced corresponding antiviral activity (Bodenheimer et al., 1983). These results suggest that inhibitors of viral polymerase detected by screening on isolated core particles containing DNA polymerase and reverse transcriptase activities will not necessarily be effective in vivo.

More effective methods of screening antiviral agents for activity against hepadnaviruses became available with the ability to grow these viruses in primary hepatocyte cultures or in hepatoma cell lines (Tuttleman, 1986b, Suzuki *et al.*, 1988, Price *et al.*, 1989, Ueda *et al.*, 1989). Among animal hepadnaviruses, the DHBV system has been considered to be a good in vitro and in vivo model for primary screening (Zuckerman, 1987, Suzuki et al., 1988, Kassianides et al., 1989, Haritani et al., 1989). Even though these screening procedures are relatively new, a few compounds have been identified which inhibit hepadnaviruses in hepatocyte cultures (Suzuki et al., 1988, Lee et al., 1989, Ueda et al., 1989, Price et al., 1989). The prospect of using these compounds as effective agents to treat chronic HBV infection in man is encouraging, but a considerable amount of work on mechanism of action, potential toxicity and efficacy in vivo remains to be done.

1.6 The Rationale of This Study.

As discussed previously, there is no satisfactory antiviral therapy for chronic hepatitis B infection at present. Although effective vaccines that can prevent the spread of HBV are available, the use of vaccines ha not significantly decreased the carrier rate, even in highly industrialized countries which can afford this vaccine. Furthermore, vaccines will not benefit people who are already HBV carriers. More effective antiviral agents are required for the treatment of acute or chronic hepatitis B infection in humans. Until recently the development of antiviral therapy was seriously hampered by the absence of cell culture methods to grow hepadnaviruses. In 1986, the technique of preparing primary hepatocyte cultures from DHBV infected ducks was established in the Fox Chase Cancer Institute in Philadelphia (Tuttleman *et al.*, 1986b). This provided a cell culture system which could be used to screen chemicals for antiviral activity against hepadnaviruses. Compounds which were effective *in vitro* could then be tested in DHBV infected ducks to determine if they were also effective *in vivo*.

At the time that in vitro screening began in our laboratory, no cell culture studies testing compounds for anti-HBV activity had been published. We began screening a number of compounds, including 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides, for antiviral activity. Previous studies with these compounds had been limited to studies on the inhibition of human immunodeficiency and herpes viruses (De Clercq, 1987, Wagar et al., 1984). We compared the antiviral activity of many compounds with the activity of araA, a compound known to have some anti-HBV activity. The results from our primary screening showed that two purine dideoxynucleosides, 21,31dideoxyadenosine (ddA) and 2',3'-dideoxyguanosine (ddG), were very potent inhibitors of DHBV replication whereas two pyrimidine 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides, 2',3'-dideoxycytidine (ddC) and 2',3'-dideoxythymidine (ddT), had little or no inhibitory effect on viral replication (Suzuki et al., 1988).

This presented us with an interesting challenge: to determine why the purine, but not the pyrimidine, 2',3'dideoxynucleosides analogues were potent inhibitors of hepadnaviruses.

The Objectives of this Study.

1. To determine the dose response curves for antiviral activity of 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides in DHBV infected primary hepatocytes.

ii. To determine the *in vivo* efficacy of 2',3'dideoxynucleosides in Pekin ducks.

iii. To determine the mechanism of action of purine 2',3'dideoxynucleosides by:

a. examining their effects on DNA polymerase and reverse transcriptase activities.

b. examining their effect on DHBV RNA template synthesis and DHBV DNA synthesis in replicative core particles.

c. testing for binding of a purine dideoxynucleotide to the terminal protein.

CHAPTER 2.

THE ABILITY OF 2',3'-DIDEOXYNUCLEOSIDES TO INHIBIT DUCK HEPATITIS B VIRUS: Antiviral Activity in vitro and in vivo.

INTRODUCTION

The initial screening studies done in our laboratory indicated that ddA and ddG were strong inhibitors of DHBV, whereas ddC and ddT had little or no effect on viral replication (Suzuki, et al., 1988). This result was surprising since all of the dideoxynucleosides would have been expected to have approximately similar potency to inhibit DHBV DNA synthesis. The very potent antiviral activity of the purine 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides and the poor antiviral activity of the pyrimidine analogues required confirmation and further study by more carefully examining the antiviral activity of other purine and pyrimidine analoques. The antiviral activities of numerous 2', 3'dideoxynucleoside analogues were tested and compared in doseresponse curves. The structures of the compounds which were studied are shown in figure 2.1. This work was completed in collaboration with Bonita Lee, a medical student who worked in our laboratory.

Figure 2.1.

Molecular structures of some dideoxynucleosides.

.







ddA

.

ddDAPR

ddG

Ö



ddl



CH₂OH

dd⊺

For many compounds, activity in vitro has not necessarily meant that these compounds have activity in vivo. For example, trisodium phosphononoformate showed an inhibitory effect on DHBV DNA polymerase in vitro (Nordenfelt et al. 1979), however, this compound gave no evidence of antiviral activity in vivo (Nordenfelt et al. 1982). Similar observations were made with suramin, which is reported to be an inhibitor of DHBV DNA polymerase in vitro (Tsiquaye and Zuckerman, 1985) and to be able to prevent virus spread by inhibiting infection by DHBV (Petcu, et al. 1988), but failed to suppress the HBV DNA polymerase in patients (Loke, et al. 1987). As another example, a number of intercalating agents had been demonstrated by Hirshman and Garfinkel (1978) to inhibit HBV DNA polymerase in vitro. Despite its potent inhibitory effect, in vivo studies failed to show antiviral activity against HBV in patients (Bodebgeimer, et al. 1983). For this reason, I am anxious to study the in vivo activity of purine 2', 3'-dideoxynucleosides against DHBV.

The supplies of the 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides were obtained from the laboratory of Dr. M.J. Robins (Department of chemistry, Brigham Young University, Provo Utah84602) or Raylo Chemicals Ltd of Edmonton. Although ddG was the most promising compound, the chemical synthesis of ddG is much more difficult than the synthesis of 2,6-diaminopurine 2',3'dideoxynucleoside (ddDAPR) or pyrimidine analogues. ddDAPR, which is readily deaminated to ddG in hepatocytes (personal communication, Theresa Kitos), is easy to synthesize and the process could readily be "scaled up" to produce sufficient quantities for our *in vivo* studies. Hence, I elected to use ddDAPR, ddA and ddC in most of my *in vivo* studies.

MATERIALS and METHODS

Chemicals. 2',3'-Dideoxyadenosine (ddA), 2',3'dideoxycytidine (ddC), 2',3'-dideoxyguanosine (ddG), 2',3'dideoxyinosine (ddI), and 2',3'-dideoxythymidine (ddT) were purchased from Pharmacia Canada Inc. for the *in vitro* screening. 2,6-diaminopurine 2',3'-dideoxynucleoside (ddDAPR) for the *in vitro* work was synthesized by Morris J. Robins, Brigham Young University. The *in vivo* studies required larger quantities of ddA, ddC and ddDAPR. These larger quantities were purchased on contract from Raylo Chemicals, Edmonton, Canada.

Ducks. Fertilized Pekin duck eggs were purchased from Macey Foods Ltd., Brandon, Canada or Sunshine Chick Hatchery and Supplies Ltd., Edmonton, Canada. Newly hatched ducklings were infected by a 50 μ l intravenous injection of serum containing DHBV. DHBV-infected ducklings were identified by dot hybridization of serum samples to detect DHBV-DNA 4-7 days after inoculation. Infected animals were raised separately from uninfected animals.

Hepatocyte Cultures and Drug Treatment. Primary culture of duck hepatocytes were prepared by a modification of the method described by Tuttleman, et al. (1986b). A duckling of 1- to 2-weeks of age was anesthetized with pentobarbital sodium (Nembutal). After the abdomen was opened, the portal vein was severed and the liver was

perfused via cardiac catheterization with 200 ml of minimum essential medium, Eagle (MEM Auto-Pow, Flow Laboratories, Inc.) containing 0.5 mM EGTA [ethylene glycol-bis(baminoethyl ether)-N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid], 50 U/ml of penicillin G sodium and 10 μ g/ml of streptomycin sulfate. The perfusion was continued with an additional 200 ml of the same medium containing 0.5 mg/ml of collagenase type IV (Sigma Chemical Co.) and 2.5 mM CaCl₂. The perfusion was performed in a horizontal laminar flow hood and media were kept at 37° C during the perfusion. When the liver became pale and soft (about 20 min), it was cut from the animal and removed to a 100 mm tissue culture dish containing L-15 media. The cells were dispersed in L-15 medium (Flow Laboratories, Inc.) containing 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 15 mM HEPES (N-2-Hydroxyethylpiperazine-N'-2-ethanesulphonic acid), 1 µg/ml of insulin (Sigma Chemical Co.), 10 µM hydrocortisone-hemisuccinate (Sigma Chemical Co.), 1.5 μ g/ml of glucose, 50 U/ml of penicillin G sodium, 10 μ g/ml of streptomycin and 25 U/ml of nystatin (culture medium, Tuttleman, et al. 1986b). The suspension of cells was filtered though a nylon mesh and centrifuged at 300 rpm (about 50 x g) for 10 minutes. The cell pellets were washed with culture medium 3 times by centrifugation at room temperature and the cells were suspended in approximately 10 times the pellet volume of culture medium and counted in a hemocytometer. Cells were seeded in 60-mm cell culture dishes in 4 ml of culture medium at approximately 2.5 x 10^6

.

 $-\frac{1}{2}$

cells/per dish. Cells were incubated at 37° C incubator. The day of the preparation of the hepatocyte cell cultures was counted as day 0. Media were changed every second day. Nucleoside analogues dissolved in 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5) were added to the hepatocyte culture media from day two onwards.

In vivo drug treatment. Persistent DHBV infection was confirmed in 4- to 6-week-old ducklings by dot hybridization prior to treatment. Nucleoside analogues were dissolved in 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5) and 0.72% NaCl, filtered though 0.45 μ m filters and stored at -20° C in aliquots. Ducks were weighed twice a week and treated with placebo (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5 and 0.72% NaCl, 2 ml/kg), ddA (10 mg/kg), ddDAPR (10 mg/kg) or ddC (10 mg/kg) given twice daily (b⁴3) by intramuscular (i.m.) injection. Blood samples were collected every 3-7 days from veins of duck legs during the treatment period and in some cases weekly for 1-4 weeks posttreatment. The sera were stored at -20° C.

Plasmid DNA and preparation of the radioactive probe. Plasmid pDH010-DHBV contains a full sized DHBV genome at the EcoRI site. Escherichia coli harboring plasmid pDH010-DHBV was a generous gift from Dr. J. W. Summers (Dept. Cell Biol., U. of New Mexico School of Medicine, Albuquerque, NM 87131). The plasmids were prepared using the CsCl gradient method as described by Maniatis, et al. (1982). Purified plasmids containing the DHBV DNA sequence were

labelled with $[\alpha - 3^2 P]dCTP$ by nick translation (Nick Translation Kit, Amersham).

Dot hybridization. Duck serum samples (10 µl) were loaded cuto a nylon membrane (Hybond-N, Amersham) using a Bio-Dot TM microfiltration apparatus (BIO-RAD). The membrane was placed on a Whatman 3 MM filter saturated with denaturation buffer (0.5 M NaOH and 1.5 M NaCl) and left at room temperature for 30 minutes before being placed on a Whatman 3 MM filter saturated with neutralization buffer (1 M Tris-HCl and 1.5 M NaCl pH 8.0) for another 30 minutes. The DNA was fixed on the membrane by exposure to UV light (shortwavelength, 254 nm) for 2-5 minutes. Hybridization was performed as described by Maniatis, et al. (1982). The membrane was prehybridized for 4-16 hours at 42° C in 50%formamide, 5x SSPE (20x SSPE contains 3.6 M NaCl, 200 mM NaH₂PO₄, pH 7.5 and 20 mM EDTA), 5x Denhardt's solution (50 x Denhardt's solution contains 10 g of Ficoll, 10 g of polyvinylpyrrolidone, 10 g of bovine serum albumin per liter), 0.1% SDS, and 100 μ g/ml denatured salmon sperm DNA. Hybridization was continued under the same conditions in the presence of $[\alpha^{-32}P]$ labelled DHBV DNA probe (1 x 10⁶ cpm/ml) for 16 hours. After hybridization, the membrane (70 cm²) was washed in 200 ml of 1x SSC (20x SSC contains 3 M NaCl, 0.3 ml4 Na Citrate pH 7.0), 0.1% SDS at 65° C for 4 times, 30 min The membrane was washed again in 200 ml of 1x SSC at each. room temperature for 30 minutes. The membrane was

autoradiographed at -70° C using XAR Kodak film and an enhancer screen for overnight.

DNA from hepatocyte cell cultures. The preparation or DNA was performed as previously described by Tuttleman, et al. (1986b). In brief, the medium was removed from cell culture dishes and 1 ml of lysis solution containing 0.2% SDS, 100 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 10 mM EDTA, 5 mM EGTA and 150 mM MaCl was added to each dish. After gentle shaking at room temperature for about 20 minutes, the cell lysate was transferred to a test tube and 0.5 mg/ml of pronase E (type E, Sigma Chemical Co.) was added. The lysate was digested at \cdot 70 C for 1.5 to 2 hours and deproteinized by extraction with an equal volume of phenol (saturated with 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 0.5 mM EDTA and 0.1% 8-hydroxyquinoline). Ammonium acetate was added to the aqueous phase to yield a final concentration of 0.2 M and the nucleic acids were precipitated with 2 volumes of cold ethanol. The pellet of nucleic acid was washed with 70% ethanol and dried. The DNA was dissolved in 100 µl of 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 0.1 mM EDTA (TE buffer) and one quarter of each was used in the dot hybridization studies.

Dose response Curve. DNA was extracted from bepatocyte cultures and the relative amounts of DHBV DNA present could be approximated by dot hybridization. However to obtain quantitative data for the dose-response curves, the "dots" were cut out from the nylon filters and the radioactivity of each was counted in a scintillation counter. The antiviral effect was expressed as a percentage of radioactivity in the treated cultures relative to that in the untreated control. The amount of radioactivity in untreatedinfected hepatocytes was considered to be 100%.

RESULTS

2.1 In Vitro Antiviral Activity of 2',3'-Dideoxynucleoside Analogues Against DHBV.

For these experiments, I selected a range of concentrations from 0.01 μ g/ml to 50 μ g/ml for each of the 2', 3'-dideoxynucleosides to be tested. Hepatocyte cultures prepared from DHBV-infected ducklings were treated with nucleoside analogues as described above. At the end of 18 days, the total DNA (cellular and viral) was harvested from each plate. Figure 2.2 shows the results of the dot hybridizations with the extracted DNA samples. Each sample was done in duplicate. These results showed that ddDAPR, ddG and ddA (Fig. 2.2 samples A to C) were effective inhibitors of DHBV DNA synthesis and allowed clearance of the virus from the cells. At very low concentrations (0.01-0.1 μ g/ml), there was partial clearance of DHBV-DNA from the cells treated with ddDAPR, ddG and ddA. At higher concentrations ($\geq 1.0 \ \mu$ g/ml), there was nearly complete clearance of viral DNA from the hepatocyte cultures treated with ddDAPR, ddG and The other purine 2',3'-dideoxynucleoside, namely ddI, ddA. permitted only partial clearance of DHEV-DNA from the cells compared with the above compounds since it showed this effect only when used at concentrations higher than 1.0 μ g/ml (Fig. 2.2 sample D). However, ddI was more effective than either of the pyrimidine 2', 3'-dideoxynucleosides tested, namely ddC
Figure 2.2.

Dot hybridization of DNA extracts from DHBV-infected hepatocyte cultures treated in duplicate with various concentrations of six different 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides. DHBV-infected hepatocyte cultures were treated with drugs from day 2 to day 18 and total DNA of each plate was extracted after treatment. Each dot represented a quarter (25 μ l) of DNA extracted from one 60 mm plate and each sample was done in duplicate. Positive controls (+) and negative controls (-) were DNA extracted from DHBV-infected hepatocyte cultures with no treatment and uninfected hepatocyte cultures, respectively. Drug concentrations are shown on the left side in μ g/ml and the columns show DNA samples treated with ddDAPR (A), ddG (B), ddA (C), ddI (D), ddC (E), and ddT (F), respectively. Dashes represent concentrations that were not done.



and ddT (Fig. 2.2 samples E and F). Neither of ddC nor ddT permitted significant clearance of viral DNA at concentrations of 1.0 to 10 μ g/ml, although ddC does show some effect on DHBV-DNA clearance at 50 μ g/ml.

The concentration that resulted in a 50% decrease in the viral DNA content of infected hepatocyte cultures (IC50) was determined for each of these compounds from the dose response curves (Fig. 2.3). ddDAPR and ddG were the most potent agents permitting DHBV-DNA clearance among the compounds that Both of these compounds have IC50s of 0.07 were tested. ug/ml. ddA also permitted clearance of viral DNA from the cells at a low concentration, with an IC₅₀ of 0.12 μ g/ml. ddI was a relatively weak agent with an IC₅₀ of 1.5 μ g/ml, and even at high concentrations, failed to permit complete clearance of DHBV-DNA from hepatocytes. ddC and ddT did not permit clearance of viral DNA from hepatocytes.

2.2 In Vivo Testing of 2',3'-Dideoxynucleoside Analogues

Twelve 6-week old ducks infected with DHBV were divided into three groups of four animals each for an *in vivo* study to compare the effectiveness of ddA and ddDAPR. The animals were treated with placebo (group A), ddDAPR at 10 mg/kg (group B) or ddA at 10 mg/kg (group C) given twice daily for three weeks in i.m. injections. Sera were collected weekly and analyzed by dot hybridization as shown in figure 2.4. Figure 2.3.

Dose-response curves for 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides in hepatocyte cultures. DHBV-infected hepatocyte cultures were treated with drugs as described in figure 2.2. The "dot" was then cut out and counted in a liquid scintillation counter. Each point represents the mean of duplicate samples. Viral replication is expressed as the amount of radioactivity from treated cells relative to that from untreated DHBV-infected cells (100%). Symbols:ddDAPR, -; ddG, -; ddA, -; ddI, -; ddC, -; ddT, -.

.



Figure 2.4.

Is t hybridization of serum samples from ducks treated with placebo, ddDAPR, or ddA. DHBV-infected 5-week-old ducks were treated with placebo (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5 and J.72% NaCl, 2 ml/kg, group A), ddDAPR (10 mg/kg, group B), or ddA (10 mg/kg, group C) i.m. bid. Four ducks received each treatment and sera were collected pretreatment and during treatment. Each dot represents the DHBV-DNA in 10 μ l of serum. Ser. m samples in row 0 were taken pretreatment. Row 1, 2, and 3 contain serum samples after one, two and three weeks of treatment.



DHBV infection of the ducks was evident from the high levels of DHBV DNA in the sera of all ducks prior to treatment. These levels of DHBV DNA in the placebo-treated animals remained unchanged (Fig. 2.4, group A). Treatment with ddDAPR, the most effective anti-DHBV drug *in vitro*, resulted in almost complete clearance of DHBV DNA from the sera of all four animals within one week (Fig. 2.4, group B). Treatment with ddA was much less effective than ddDAPR. There was a decrease in the amount of DHBV DNA after two weeks of treatment with ddA, but a significantly higher amount of DHBV DNA remained in the sera after three weeks of treatment (Fig. 2.4, group C). Although the inhibitory effect of ddA *in vitro* was very close to that of ddDAPR (Fig.2.2.), it was not nearly as good an inhibitor as ddDAPR *in vivo*.

I also compared the *in vivo* inhibitory effect of the pyrimidine 2',3'-dideoxynucleoside, ddC with ddDAPR. Six ducks infected with DHBV were used in this study and divided into three groups of two animals each. Ducks were treated with placebo, ddDAPR at 10 mg/kg or ddC at 10 mg/kg, twice daily by intramuscular injection. Sera from these ducks were taken every 3 days and examined by dot hybridization. The results of the dot hybridization are shown in figure 2.5. Again, placebo treatment had no inhibitory effect on the production of DHBV (Fig. 2.5, samples a and b). Rapid clearance of DHBV from sera of ddDAPR-treated ducks was observed (Fig. 2.5, samples c and d). Treatment with ddC mre

Dot hybridization of serum samples from ducks treated with placebo, ddL-PR, or ddC. DHBV-infected ducks of 4-weekold were treated with placebo (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5 and 0.75% NaCl, 2 m⁻/kg, columns a and b), ddDAPR (10 mg/kg, columns c and d., or ddC (10 mg/kg, columns e and f) i.m. bid. Each duely received 2 weeks of treatment and sera were collected before and during treatment. Each dot represents the DHE DNA in 10 μl of serum. Numbers on the left indicate days of sample collection. Sera collected before treatment are labelled as -3 and 0 days, whereas sera collected during the treatment period are shown as +3, +7, and +10 days. Sera in each column were taken from the same animal. The arrow indicates that no sample was available because the duck had died on day 12.



resulted in very little inhibition of DHBV replication (Fig. 2.5, samples e and f). This result indicated that ddC, which was not an effective inhibitor of DHBV in hepatocyte culture, did not inhibit DHBV *in vivo* either. Furthermore, in my studies which have been repeated twice more, ddC was considerably more toxic than ddDAPR. I have noted that ducks treated with ddC at _0 mg/kg twice daily frequently died between 2-3 weeks into treatment. Ducks receiving ddDAPR did not show any noticeable toxicity in comparison to ducks treated with placebo.

The rapid clearance of DHBV from sera of ddDAPR-treated ducks led me to question whether this clearance of the virus would be sustained after cessation of the treatment. I have carried out another experiment in a group of five ducks. Four of them were treated with ddDAPR at 10 mg/kg twice daily i.m.and one received placebo. The treatment lasted for two weeks and sera were collected weekly from a pretreatment sample to one at the end of six weeks after the first injection. As shown in figure 2.6 samples A to D, viral DNA could no longer be detected in the sera of four ddDAPRtreated ducks within one week and the sera remained clear during the treatment period. After the treatment was stopped, there was a rebound of viral DNA in the sera during the following week. The level of viral DNA in the sera of ddDAPR treated ducks was much lower than it had been before the treatment, however. This suggests that the subsequent

Figure 2.6.

Dot hybridization of serum samples from four ducks treated with ddDAPR and one with placebo (E). DHBV-infected ducks of 6-week-old were treated with ddDAPR (10 mg/kg, columns A to D) or placebo (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5 and 0.72% NaCl, 2 ml/kg, column E) i.m. bid. Sera were collected before the treatment (week 0), during the treatment (week 1 and 2) and post treatment (week 3 through 6). Each dot represents the DHBV DNA in 10 μ l of serum. Numbers on the left indicate the weeks of serum collection.



production of virions was affected by the two weeks of ddDAPR treatment for at least 4 weeks.

.

.

DISCUSSION

In vitro screening for anti-DHBV activity of 2,3dideoxynucleosides in this study once again demonstrated that the purine 2', 3'-dideoxynucleosides led to effective clearance of DHBV-DNA from hepatocytes, whereas none of the pyrimidine analogues were effective. Among the purines, the 2',3'-dideoxyguanosine analogues, namely ddDAPR and ddG, appeared to be the most effective agents. Both ddDAPR and ddG exhibited the lowest IC50 values, indicating that they are the most potent agents permitting DHBV-DNA clearance. Studies of the metabolism of ddDAPR, which have been conducted in our laboratory (unpublished data, Theresa Kitos), have demonstrated that ddDAPR is rapidly deaminated to ddG in hepatocyte cultures as well as in the duck. The other purine 2', 3'-dideoxynucleosides (ddA and ddI) also promoted DHBV-DNA clearance from the hepatocyte cultures although ddI was a relatively weak agent.

The activity of purine 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides, especially dideoxyguanosine analogues, against DHBV replication suggested that the clearance of viral DNA from hepatocytes occurs by a mechanism which favoro the dideoxyguanosine analogues. These results were surprising since most 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides are considered to be inhibitors of reverse transcriptase and previous studies on the inhibition of the reverse transcriptase of retroviruses

0.0

nave not shown this marked preference for specific 2',3'dideoxyguanosine analogues (Waqar, et al.,1984, De Clercq, 1987,). This suggests that the mechanism of inhibition of DHBV replication by ddDAPR and ddG might not be analogcus to the inhibition of retroviruses by other 2',3'dideoxynucleoside analogues. The mechanism of action of the purine 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides was examined in more detail as will be described in Chapter 4.

The in vivo testing is a very important part of antiviral screening. It not only examines the inhibitory effect of the compound in vivo, but also helps to establish the applicability of in vitro screening to in vivo activity. Studies in our laboratory have shown that acute toxicity of ddDAPR was at least >200 mg/kg when it was tested in 100 mg/kg and 200 mg/kg doses in mice (D. Gong, unpublished data). I selected two doses, 5 mg/kg and 10 mg/kg, given intramuscularly (i.m.) every 12 hours for my preliminary experiments in ducks. I noted that 5 mg/kg cf ddDAPR given i.m. twice daily failed to clear the virus from the sera of treated animals in one week (data not shown), whereas a dose of 10 mg/kg of ddDAPR given i.m. twice daily cleared the virus in one week. Based on the results of these preliminary studies, I decided to compare the in vivo activity of ddDAPR, ddA and ddC at 10 mg/kg given i.m. twice daily.

The results of *in vivo* studies comparing the antiviral activity of ddDAPR, ddA and ddC have shown that the

dideoxyguanosine analogue, ddDAPR, was the most effective inhibitor of DHBV in vivo. This correlated well with the in vitro screening results. However, ddA which was relatively effective in vitro, showed a much lower inhibitory effect on DHBV replication in vivo. There are a few possible explanations for the decreased antiviral effect of ddA in vivo. The most likely possibility is that ddA is more easily deaminated to ddI in vivo than it is in vitro. As shown in the dose-response curves in vitro, ddI was the least effective inhibitor among all the purine dideoxynucleosides tested. If deamination of ddA occurs rapidly in vivo, the activity of ddA in vivo would not be the same as ddA in vitro. Rather, it is more likely to behave like ddI. Other factors may also contribute to this decreased antiviral activity of ddA in vivo. For example, ddA may not be phosphorylated as readily as ddG in vivo, or ddA may be more rapidly cleaved to the purine base and dideoxyribose than ddDAPR.

The results of *in vivo* testing of ddC in comparison with ddDAPR match very well with the predictions from the results of the *in vitro* screening. Not only did ddC not show any antiviral activity against DHBV replication *in vivo*, but treatment was associated with considerable toxicity. Although the reason for the sudden death in the animals treated with ddC remains unknown, it is clear that animals could not tolerate prolonged treatment with ddC at 10 mg/kg,i.m. twice daily.

The reappearance of the viral DNA in sera of ducks after stopping treatment was not surprising since inhibition of viral DNA replication does not necessarily indicate the complete clearance of virus from hepatocytes. The nuclei of cells infected with hepadnaviruses contains cccDNA which could be relatively stable. In order to cure an animal of the virus, I need considerably more information about both the intracellular pools of the intermediates in the virus replicative cycle, and the optimal conditions for treatment with an agent such as ddDAPR. This part of my study is presented in Chapter 3.

Previous studies have found that results from the inhibition of viral DNA polymerase could not be extrapolated to a demonstration of antiviral activity of these compounds in vivo (Nordenfelt, et al., 1979, Nordenfelt et al., 1982, Hirshman and Garfinkel, 1978, Bodenheimer et al., 1983, Tsiquaye and Zuckerman, 1985, Loke et al., 1987). It is important to note that my testing of antiviral activity has been done within the same species. The activity in the duck bepabodyte culture has some predictive value in vivo for the duck. If a unique mechanism of action for the purine 2',3'dideoxynucleoside analogues against hepadnaviruses can be proven, then it is possible that screening in DHBV-infected duck hepatocytes may also be predictive of antiviral activity for other hepadnaviruses in vivo. When I began my studies, there was no cell culture system that I could use to study the antiviral activity of compounds against the human hepadnavirus. However recently, several investigators have produced HBV-transfected hepatoma cell lines which can be used for this purpose. The results of studies done so far have been quite variable, for example, ddA is active against HBV HepG-2 cells (Dorothy Tovell, Dr. Tyrrell's lab. and personal communication, Brent Korba, NIH) but inactive against HBV in hepatoma cell line HB611 (Ueda et al. 1989). It is unlikely that this represents differences in HBV strains, but more likely differences in the metabolism of ddA in different cell lines. Therefore it remains to be determined how useful the antiviral studies done in transfected tumor cells will be in predicting the effect of a given compound on HBV infection in vivo. Will the infected hepatocyte from the duckling be a better or worse screening system than the transfected hepatoma cell lines? This question remains to be answered.

- 3

CHAPTER 3.

STUDIES ON THE HALF LIVES OF DHBV DNA.

INTRODUCTION

Although I have shown that ddDAPR is an effective inhibitor of DHBV in vivo (Chapter 2), these experiments were performed without determining the best conditions for the use of this compound. In order to achieve the maximal inhibitory effect of ddDAPR on viral replication, which may be needed to cure a persistent viral infection, I need to know some important biological properties of the virus as well as the optimal condition for the use of ddDAPR in the in vivo treatment of carrier animals. To date, there is no available information about the half lives of any of the forms of the DNA of the hepadnaviruses in their biological hosts. The experiments described in this Chapter were designed to determine the half life of viral DNA in the serum as well as the half life of cccDNA in the hepatocyte nucleus. These garameters will provide me with the basic information required to design the protocol for an attempt to eliminate the virus in chronic infections. The effect of age of the animals on the rate of clearance of DHBV DNA from their sera with ddDAPR treatment will also be presented.

The determination of the half life of DHBV DNA (virian) in the serum is relatively simple because one animal can be used for repeated sampling. However, the determination of the half life of cccDNA in the hepatocytes nucleus is more complex. I thought of trying to use the same animal and jetermining the amount of cccDNA in sequential liver biomer samples. However this procedure has several potential pitfalls. Firstly, the percentage of the hepatocytes infected during a persistent infection can vary from one animal to another (Dr. L. Jewell, personal observation:). Secondly, the infection in the liver can be quite focal and biopsies may not be very reliable when quantity is most important. Thirdly, I found on several attempts that the amount of tissue obtained by a liver biopsy was not sufficient to allow me to do a quantitative extract of DHBV CCCDNA. For these reasons, I decided to treat a larger number of animals and use samples from three to four animals for each time point.

I originally treated animals with ddDAPR at 10 mg/kg given i.m., twice daily and noted clearance of the virus from sera in approximately one week as described in Chapter 2. . : also tested a dose of 20 mg/kg i.m. bid and noted clearance at approximately the same rate. I concluded therefore that 20 mg/kg i.m. bid would be above the maximal effective dose and could be used to determine the half lives of the viral DNA in the serum and the cccDNA in the liver. However, Dr. Mang Ma in our laboratory has shown the inhibitory effect persists for approximately 8 hours post treatment. Therefore I repeated these experiments with a treatment regime of 20 mg/kg of ddDAPR given i.m., every 8 hours (q8h).

I also decided to use congenitally infected ducklings wince I had observed that these animals were less likely to show spontaneous clearing or wide variations from one animal to another in the amount of virus present. There was one further problem in these studies. It appears that DHBV DNA clearance in newly hatched ducklings is much less sensitive to ddDAPR treatment than in animals that are >3 weeks of age. To avoid the problem of variable response in young ducklings, all the animals used in my later study were 5 weeks of age.

76

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Arimals: Pekin ducks were raised in two colonies at the University of Alberta farm at Ellerslie, Alberta. One colony consisted of uninfected ducks and the other consisted of ducks that were congenitally infected with DHBV. Eggs obtained from these two colonies were hatched in the laboratory in a Cyclonic incubator (Marsh Manufacturing, Inc., Garden Grove, California 92641). The eggs were incubated for 28 days at 37° C in a humidity controlled environment.

Treatment: Initially I used 24 congenitally infected ducklings and treated these animals, beginning 12 hours after hatching, with ddDAPR at 20 mg/kg i.m., bid. Four animals were sacrificed at weekly intervals and livers of the animals were quick frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -70° C. The cccDNA was extracted from liver samples as described below.

This experiment was repeated using 5-week-old ducklings. Thirty of these animals were congenitally infected and one from the uninfected colony served as a negative control for the cccDNA preparation. In this experiment the serum half life of DHBV DNA, presumably the half life of genomic DNA in virion, was also measured. These ducklings were treated with ddDAPR at 20 mg/kg i.m., every 8 hours (q8h) for 15 days. Sera were removed from 6 animals pretreatment and at every 8

~ • ~ •

hours for 72 hours to determine the serum half life of DHBV DNA. Animals treated with ddDAPR were sacrificed at 1, 2, 3, 6, 9, 12 and 15 days. Animals treated with placebo (20 mM Tris HCl, pH7.5 and 0.72% NaCl, 2 ml/kg) i.m.,q8h were sacrificed at 0, 6 and 15 days. The livers were stored as described above.

Extraction of Cellular and cccDNA From Liver Duck liver samples of 0.5 g were cut into small Tissue. pieces and homogenized in a Dounce homogenizer in 2.5 ml of lysis buffer containing 0.4 M EDTA and 2% N-lauroylsarcosine sodium, pH 9.5. This high pH lysis solution will inhibit any nuclease activity and prevent the generation of nicks in the The homogenized solution was diluted with 5 ml of CCCDNA. 0.10 M Tris HCl pH 8.0 to reduce its density, and immediately extracted twice with phenol and once with chloroform. The DNA was precipitated from the aqueous phase by the addition of NaOAc to 0.3 M and 2 volumes of ethanol. The DNA in the pellet was dissolved in TE buffer and treated with RNase A 0.1 μ g/ml for 30 minutes at 37° C. After phenol extraction, the DNA was precipitated again and dissolved in 1 ml of 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0 and 0.1 mM EDTA. The chromosome DNA in the solution was sheared by passing through 26G,1/2 inch size needle 8 times. Samples were stored at -20° C.

DHBV DNA Probe and DNA Hybridization. Preparation of DHBV DNA probes and dot hybridizations were performed as described in Chapter 2. For Southern transfer and

78

hybridization, DNA samples were electrophoresed in a 10 agarose gel with either TBE buffer (20x TBE is 1 M Tris base, 1 M boric acid and 20 mM EDTA) or TAE buffer (40 mM Tris acetate, pH 7.5 and 2 mM EDTA). After electrophoresis, the gel was treated with acid (0.25 N HCl) for 10 minutes and with alkali (0.5 M NaOH, 1.5 M NaCl) for 30 minutes at room temperature with gentle agitation. The gel was neutralized in a solution containing 1.5 M NaCl and 1 M Tris HCl, pH 8.0, at room temperature for 30 minutes with gentle agitation. The DNA fragments separated on the agarope gel were transferred onto a nylon membrane with 20x SSC overnight as described by Maniatis, et al. (1982). DNA was fixed onto the nylon membrane by exposure to UV light for 2-5 minutes. Hybridization of an $[\alpha-^{32}P]$ labelled DHBV DNA probe to viral DNA on the membrane was performed as described for the dot hybridization in Chapter 2.

Determination of the Half Life of DHBV DNA in Sera. Sera were taken from the treated ducks initially and at every 8 hours for 72 hours. An aliquot of 10 μ l of Jerum from each duck was applied to the nylon filter for hybridization. After hybridization, the dots were cut from the filter and the radioactivity present in each was determined by liquid scintillation counting. The amount of DHBV DNA in sera was expressed as a percentage of radioactivity present in dot blots of sera from DHBV-infected ducks relative to that present in ducks before initiating treatment (100%). The time to 50%, 25%, 12.5% and 6.26% of the pretreatment level was used to calculate each of 4 half lives. The DHBV DNA half life was determined to be the mean of these four values.

Determination of the Half Life of DHBV cccDNA in Liver Tissue. The half life of DHBV cccDNA has been examined using dot blot hybridization or Southern blot hybridization followed by counting radioactivity on nylon filters. DNA samples assayed by dot hybridization were applied in 10 μ l/5 mg of liver tissues/dot and the radioactivity of each dot was counted as described previously. DNA samples extracted from 5-week-old ducklings were also examined by Southern blot hybridization in 20 μ l/10mg of liver tissue/well. After hybridization, the cccDNA band was cut and the radioactivity of each was quantified.

Sec

RESULTS

3.1 The Half Life of DHBV DNA (Virion DNA) in Serum.

The half life of DHBV DNA in serum was assayed in 5week-old ducks. The DHBV DNA level in sera of ducks treated with ddDAPR decreased rapidly as shown in figure 3.1. There was a dramatic decrease in the level of DHBV DNA by 2 days of treatment. The half life of DHBV DNA in sera in the presence of ddDAPR, calculated from this graph by measuring four half lives (50%, 25%, 12.5% and 6.25%) and calculating a mean half life from these four, was found to be 14 hours. The similar experiments have been done by the treatment of ddDAPR at 20 mg/kg i.m. bid in the same age of ducks, and the values for the half life of DHBV DNA in sera ranged from 11 to 14 hours.

3.2 The Half Life of DHBV cccDNA in Liver Tissue.

DNA (10 μ I/5 mg of liver tissue) extracted from lives of newly hatched ducklings was applied to nylon filters and assayed by dot hybridization. The results from desty hatched, congenitally-infected ducklings are shown in fagure 3.2. The decrease of cccDNA from liver tissue in this group of animals was surprisingly slow. From the curve in figure 3.2, the half life of cccDNA was measured to be 1.3 weeks. I collected sera from these animals on a weekly basis and noted that treatment of ducks with ddDAPR at 20 mg/kg i.m. bid failed to clear DHBV from the sera of these animals even

Figure 3.1

DHEV DNA, measured at 8-hour intervals, in sera of ducks treated for 72 hours with ddDAPR at 20 mg/kg i.m. q8h. Each point represents the mean value from six animals and bars represent the standard deviation. The relative amounts of DHBV DNA in sera are expressed as the percentage of radioactivity present in dot blots of sera from DHBV-infected ducks with treatment, relative to that present in ducks before initiating treatment. Each 10 µl serum sample was dotted onto a nylon filter for dot hybridization and then cut out for quantitation by scintillation counting.



cpm percentage

Time(hours)

83

-

Figure 3.2.

The half life of DHBV cccDNA in congenitally infected newly hatched ducklings. Each duckling was treated with 20 mg/kg of ddDAPR i.m. bid from birth. The cccDNA was extracted from the livers. An aliquot of 10 μ l of DNA sample was evaluated by dot hybridization. After hybridization, the dots were cut for liquid scintillation counting. The amount of cccDNA was expressed as the radioactivity present in dots. Each point represents the mean value of 4 samples and the bars represent the range.



Time (weeks)

after 2 weeks of treatment. The poor response of newborn ducklings to ddDAPR treatment has been confirmed by Dr. Mang Ma, a resident in Internal Medicine currently investigating this observation in our laboratory. These observations led me to repeat these studies in 5-week-old animals. For these studies I want to acknowledge the assistance of Roopa Viraraghavan, a medical student who spent a summer in dur laboratory. The study in 5-week-old ducklings showed a much more rapid decrease in the levels of cccDNA in liver tissue (Fig. 3.3) when compared with the decrease in cccDNA in animals treated from birth (Fig. 3.2). On the basis of the results of this study I have determined that the half life of cccDNA is approximately 4.2 days.

To confirm that the decrease of cccDNA as measured by the dot blots reflected a true decrease in cccDNA form, Southern blots were performed on there samples. The results of the Southern blot hybridization (one of three) are chown in figure 3.4 and a comparison of the mean of three Southern blot samples quantitated by scintillation counting is shown in figure 3.5. Unlike the results from dot hybridization, cccDNA tested by Southern blot analysis did not show significant decrease with ddDAPR treatment.

30

Figure 3.3.

The half life of DHBV cccDNA in congenitally infected 5week-old ducklings measured by dot hybridization. Each duckling was treated with ddDAPR at 20 mg/kg i.m. q8h. DNA was extracted from livers of the animals. An aliquot of 10 μ l DNA (5 mg of liver) was loaded onto nylon filter. After hybridization, the dots were cut for liquid scintillation counting. The relative amount of DNA is expressed as the amount of radioactivity present in the dots. Each point represents the mean value from 2 or 3 samples. The bar represent the range.



Тіпле (days)

Figure 3.4.

Conthern blot hybridization of cccDNA extracted from condensionly infected 5-week-old ducklings. DHBV-infected were treated with placebo (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5 and 70 = 1, 2 al/k) or ddDAPR (20 mg/kg) i.m. q8h. Animals were sacrified at the various time point (days) and cccDNA were sacrified at the various time point (days) and cccDNA were raced from the livers of animals. Each sample (20 μ l 10 m of liver tissues) was assayed by Southern blot hybridization. Letters P and T represent placebo treated and ddDAPR treated samples, respectively. Numbers besides the letter indicated the days of treatment. The position of cccDNA was indicated by "ccc" on the left side.


Figure 3.5.

The amount of cccDNA in the livers of congenitally intected 5-week-old ducklings treated with ddDAPR as measured by Southern blot hybridization and liquid scintillation counting. Animals were treated and cccDNA was analysized as described in figure 3.3. The cccDNA bands detected in Southern blot hybridization (see figure 3.4) were cut out and counted by liquid scintillation. Each column represents the mean of two (for P15 only) or three (for all other columns) samples. The letters (P and T) represent placebo and drug treatment respectively and the numbers represent days of treatment.



Time (days)

3.3 The Effect of Duck Age on the Response to ddDAPR Treatment.

My previous studies had shown that treatment with ddDAPR at 10 mg/kg i.m. bid cleared the virus from serum by one week. The clearance of the virus from animals treated with $20~{
m mg/kg}$ i.m. bid was similar (incomplete clearance at 3 days, complete clearance by one week, based on dot hybridization). In a pilot study I found that newly hatched ducklings gave a much poorer response than animals that were 4 weeks old. To examine this more carefully, I treated 20 ducklings which were congenitally infected with DHBV. Ten ducklings were treated from birth with 20 mg/kg i.m. bid, Treatment in another 10 ducklings began at 4 weeks of age. As can be seen in Table 1, animals that were treated from hatching with ddDAPR showed a much slower clearance of the virus from their sera than did animals that were 4 weeks old when the treatment was initiated.

Table	3.1.	The	eff	ect	of	age	on	the	clear	ance	of	DHBV-DNA
from the sera of ddDAPR-treated ducks.												

Age of ducklings	Number of	Number of negative serum dot blots					
	ducklings	1 week	<u>2 weeks</u>	<u>3 weeks</u>			
newly hatched	10	0 ·	5	5			
4 weeks	10	10	N/A	N/A			

N/A: Not Applicable.

5.4

DISCUSSION

The measurement of the half life of DHBV DNA in sera has been repeated in three separate studies with 5-week-old congenitally infected ducks. Two of them were performaed by treatment with ddDAPR at 20 mg/kg i.m. bid and the third experiment was done by treatment with ddDAPR at 20 mg/kg i.m. The disappearance of DHBV DNA from sera of treated a8h. ducks followed a similar pattern in each experiment with the half lives in the range of 11-14 hours. To the best of my knowledge this is the first estimate of the half life of a hepadnavirus in host sera. This study was made possible by the availability of a drug (ddDAPR) that inhibits viral reproduction. The disappearance of the virus from serum could be the result of several processes. Previous studies (Tuttleman, et al. 1986a, Wu, et al. 1990, Summers, et al., 1990) have suggested that the cccDNA pool remains of constant size in hepatocyte. As cccDNA disappears from the pool, some of it is replenished by an intracellular pathway, however, some may also be contributed by extracellular reinfection. The clearance of DHBV from sera of ducks could be the result of virions leaving the blood stream to reinfect hepatocytes or other tissues. Although this is possible, the rapid disappearance of the virus makes it seem unlikely that all the virus could disappear by this route. The availability of a drug which prevents production of new virions has enabled me to study the removal of DHBV from the serum of its host.

My results can not necessarily be extrapolated to the human situation. Similar studies will have to be done in humans when an effective inhibitor of HBV replication is available and used in chronic carriers.

When I attempted to determine the half life of cccDNA in hepatocytes, I have considered that congenitally infected newly hatched ducklings would all have similar quantities of viral life cycle intermediates. Therefore, the use of newly 5 ched ducklings would reduce the sample error which I have seen is animals that are older. However, I did not know that rewly hatched, congenitally infected ducklings would respond more slowly to treatment with ddDAPR. During the treatment period, I took sera from the treated newly hatched ducklings and assayed for viral DNA in these sera. The result showed clearly that the newly hatched ducklings were less sensitive to ddDAPR or cleared the virus slower than older ducks. However, I have repeated the experiment measuring the half life of cccDNA in hepatocytes in 5-week-old ducklings. 1 have assumed that treatment with ddDAPR at 20 mg/kg i.m. q8h will maintain the inhibitory effects of ddDAPR in ducks (unpublished results, Mang. Ma). Therefore I believe there is little opportunity to replenish the cccDNA pool by the intracellular route (Tuttlman, et al. 1986a, Wu, et al., 1990, Summers, et al., 1990). This allows me to try to estimate the half life of cccDNA. From the results of dot

hybridization, the amount of cccDNA decreased with the treatment by ddDAPR.

When I analysized these samples by Southern blot hybridization, the results show that cccDNA did not decrease much even after the 15 days of treatment with ddDAPR. I believe that the results from Southern blot hybridization are more reliable than the dot blot results.

The poor response of newly hatched ducklings to ddDAPR treatment could be the result of one or more differences in metabolism between newly hatched and older ducks. Firstly, the rate of deamination of ddDAPR could be slow in newly hatched animals and more efficient in 5-week-old ducks. Secondly, for it to be utilized in DNA synthesis, the conversion of ddDAPR to ddG must be followed by phosphorylation to ddGMP, ddGDP and ddGTP. The efficiency of this process may be considerably less in newly hatched ducklings than in older animals. Thirdly, the nucleoside pools may be quite different in new hatched ducklings than in older animals. If the dGTP pool was higher in newly hatched ducklings, then the effect of a given concentration of ddGTF would be much less. Fourthly, the newly hatched duckling may have a less effective immune system than a 5-week-old duckling. If rapid clearance of the virus from serum is a result of both antiviral and immune effects, then newly hatched ducklings would be expected to respond slowly given one or more of the above possibilities.

CHAPTER 4

STUDIES ON THE MECHANISM OF ACTION OF PURINE 2',3'-DIDEOXYNUCLEOSIDES

INTRODUCTION

Our observation that purine 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides, especially 2',3'-dideoxyguanosine analogues, effectively inhibit DHBV replication *in vitro* and *in vivo* invites several interesting questions. What is the mechanism of action of 2',3'-dideoxyguanosine analogues? Furthermore, is the mechanism of action applicable only to DHBV or does it also apply to other hepadnaviruses including HBV? Will the mechanism of action be specific enough to inhibit viral replication without seriously disrupting the metabolism of the host cell?

The chemical structure of 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides (Fig.2.1) is very similar to that of deoxynucleosides except that the 3'-OH on the deoxyribose is replaced by 3'-H in dideoxynucleosides. Therefore, if the 2',3'dideoxynucleosides are metabolized in the cell, they may be incorporated into the elongating DNA and block the formation of the phosphodiester bond with the next nucleotide. The elongation of the DNA will be stopped. In this chapter, I examine the specificity of purine 2',3'-dideoxynucleoside inhibition of DHBV replication. My work focused on a comparison between a purine 2',3'-dideoxynucleoside (ddGT? in vitro and ddDAPR in vivo) and a pyrimidine 2',3'dideoxynucleoside (ddCTP in vitro and ddC in vivo) with respect to: (a) their competive and chain terminative effects on the DNA polymerase and reverse transcriptase activities of isolated replicative core particles; and (b) their effects on the synthesis of viral nucleic acid in replicative core particles isolated from treated animals. In addition, I attempted to demonstrate the binding of purine 2',3'dideoxynucleotides to the terminal protein.

99

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Chemicals. 2',3'-Dideoxyguanosine 5'-triphosphato (ddGTP), 2',3'-dideoxycytidine 5'-triphosphate (ddCTP) and the deoxynucleoside triphosphates (dATP, dCTP, dGTP, dTTP) were purchased from Pharmacia Canada Inc. ddDAPR and ddc were synthesized by Raylo Chemicals, Edmonton, Canada. $[\alpha^{32}P]dCTP$ and $[\alpha^{32}P]dGTP$ were purchased from Amersham Canada Ltd. Dideoxyadenosine 5'- $[\alpha$ -thio] triphosphate ^{35}S ($\alpha^{35}S$ ddATP) was purchased from DuPont Canada Inc.

Ducks and Treatment. Congenitally infected 4-weekold ducks were treated for two weeks with placebo (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5 and 0.72% of NaCl, 2 ml/kg), ddDAPR (10 mg/kg) or ddC (10 mg/kg) by intramuscular injection twice daily. The dose of 10 mg/kg i.m. bid was selected on the basis of rapid clearance of DHBV DNA from sera by ddDAPR treatment (Fig. 2.3 and Fig. 2.4). ddC, which was not active at this dose, was used as negative control (Fig. 2.4). After treatment was complete, the animals were anesthetized with intravenous pentobarbital sodium, the livers were removed, frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -70° C until upe for the preparation of replicative core particles.

Preparation of Replicative Core Particles. DHB7 replicative core particles were prepared by two methods. The first method has been described by Summers and Mason (1982) and was used here with minor modifications. Briefly, 10 g of

1.00

liver was cut into small pieces and homogenized in 30 ml of extraction buffer (EB) containing 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 7 mM MgSO4, 50 mM NaCl, 0.1% 2-mercaptoethanol, 100 µg/ml bovine serum albumin and 0.25 M sucrose. The homogenized suspension was centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 20 minutes at 4° C in a Beckman JA20 rotor. Five ml of the supernatant was layered into 33 ml of a 15%-30% linear sucrose gradient in EB and centrifuged at 23,000 rpm for 7 hours at 4° C in a Beckman SW27 rotor. Fractions of the sucrose gradient were collected in 1.5 ml portions and assayed for DNA polymerase activity by endogenous labelling (see below). The fractions showing DNA polymerase activity were pooled and pelleted bv centrifugation at 23,000 rpm for 15 hours at 4° C in a Beckman SW27 rotor. The pellets were suspended in 4 ml of EB buffer and treated with DNase (1 μ g/ml) at 37° C for 10 minutes. After the addition of EDTA to produce a solution of 20 mM, the suspension was further treated with RNase A (0.1 μ g/ml) for another 10 minutes. The suspension was centrifuged for 5 minutes in a clinical centrifuge. Two ml of supernatant were then layered onto 11 ml of a 15-30% linear sucrose gradient made in EB buffer and centrifuged at 23,000 rpm for 15 hours at 4° C in a Beckman SW40 rotor. The pellet containing the replicative cores was carefully collected as previously described to prevent mixing with supernatant (Summers and Mason, 1982). The replicative cores purified from 10 g of liver tissue were suspended in 2 ml of EB buffer for extraction of DNA and pregenomic RNA or in 2 ml

of 10 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.5 for testing inhibition of enzymatic activities. The cores were stored at -20° C in 0.5 ml aliquots until used for nucleic acid extraction or enzymatic assays as described below.

The second method used for the preparation −of replicative core particles was a miror modification or the method described by Bartenschlager and Schaller (1988). Approximately 20 g of liver tissue was sliced and $50~{
m ml}$ ${
m ot}$ TPT buffer (10 mM Tris HCl, pH 8.0, 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA and 1 mM PMSF) were added prior to homogenization in a Dounce homogenizer. The homogenized solution was centrifuged in a Beckman JA20 rotor at 12,000 rpm at 4° C for 20 minutes. The supernatant was loaded onto a step gradient containing 6 ml each of 60%, 30% and 15% sucrose in TPT. After centrifugation in a Beckman SW28 rotor at 25,000 rpm at 4° C for 4 hours, gradient fractions were collected from the bottom of the tube and fractions containing the viral replicative complexes were detected using dot hybridization for DHBV DNA. Positive fractions were pooled and centrifuged at 23,000 rpm at 4° C for 15 hours. The pellet was suspended in EB buffer and treated with DNase I and RNase A as described above. After treatment, the suspension was loaded onto a linear gradient of 15%-60% sucrose in TPT buffer and centrifuged in a Beckman SW40 rotor at 23,000 rpm at 4° C for 16 hours. Fractions were collected from the bottom of the tube and assayed for DHBV by dot hybridization. These

tractions were utilized for endogenous labelling of DHBV DNA or Southern blot analysis.

Extraction of Viral DNA from Replicative Core Particles. Replicative core aliquots of 0.5 ml were incubated with proteinase K (0.5 mg/ml) in the presence of 0.5% SDS at 37° C for 30 minutes. The lysate was extracted twice with an equal volume of phenol and then with an equal volume of chloroform. One tenth volume of 3.0 M NaOAc was added to the aqueous phase and the nucleic acids were precipitated in 2.5 volumes of ethanol at -70° C for 30 Nucleic acid samples were recovered by minutes. centrifugation in an Eppendorf centrifuge for 15 minutes at 4° C. The pellet was washed once with cold 70% ethanol and dissolved in 20 μl of 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 0.1 mM EDTA. The nucleic acids were treated with RNase H (RNase H 4 units/20 μ l, Bethesda Research Laboratories) at 37° C for 30 minutes, followed by a phenol and a chloroform extraction. The viral DNA was precipitated in 0.3 M NaOAc, pH 7.0 and 2 volumes of ethanol at -70° C for 30 minutes. The DNA was pelleted in an Eppendorf centrifuge for 15 minutes at 4° C. The pellet was dissolved in 80 μl of TE buffer and 20 μl was used for Southern blot analysis.

Extraction of Pregenomic RNA from Replicative Core Particles. The total nucleic acids were extracted from replicative core particles as described above. After precipitation, the nucleic acids were dissolved in 40 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.9), 10 mM NaCl and 6 mM MgCl₂. The solution was heated at 100° C for 1 minute and immediately cooled on ice in order to separate any DNA:RNA hybrids. After a quick spin in an Eppendorf centrifuge, DNase (RNase-free DNase 4 u/20 µl, Promega) was added to the solution which was incubated at 37° C for 30 minutes followed by phenol and chloroform extractions. Viral RNA was precipitated in 0.3 M NaOAc pH7.0 with 2.5 volumes of ethanol at -70° C for 30 The RNA in this solution was divided into 4 equal minutes. aliquots and stored in 0.3 M NaOAc and 2.5 volumes of ethanol until it was used for Northern blot studies. On the day that the Northern blot was to be performed, the RNA was pelleted in an Eppendorf centrifuge for 15 minutes at 4° C. The RNA pellet was dissolved in 4.7 μ l of H₂O and treated as described below (see Northern blot hybridization).

Endogenous Labelling. Aliquots of 15 µl of the sucrose gradient fractions were mixed with an equal volume of 3 x polymerase buffer (1 x polymerase buffer contains 50 mM Tris-HCl pH8.0, 50 mM NaCl, 20 mM MgCl₂, 0.1% NP-40, 50 µM dATP, 50 µM dGTP, and 50 µM dTTP) at room temperature for 16 minutes. [α -³²P] labelled dCTP (2 µCi/15 µl) was added to this mixture which was incubated at 37° C for 1 hour. The DNA was precipitated from the reaction mixture with 10% trichloroacetic acid (TCA) on ice for 10 minutes. The precipitate was collected by filtration of the solution through a GF/C glass-fiber disc and washed 3 times with 5 mi

of cold 10% TCA followed by 3 washes with 3 ml of ethanol. The GF/C glass-fibers filters were dried and counted in a liquid scintillation counter.

Inhibition of Replicative Core DNA Polymerase and Reverse Transcriptase Activities by Dideoxyucleotide Analogues. Replicative core particles in 10 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5 (4 μ l) were mixed with 4 μ l of 4x polymerase buffer at room temperature for 10 minutes. The inhibitors (ddGTP or ddCTP) in 4 μ l and [α -³²P] labelled dGTP or dCTP in 4 μ l were added to the replicative core mixture and incubated at 37° C. Final concentrations for the measurement of the effect of ddCTF were as follows: 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 50 mM NaCl, 20 mM MgCl₂, 0.1% NP-40, 50 µM of dATP, dCTP, and dTTP and 0.1 μ M of $[\alpha^{-32}P]$ dGTP with various concentrations of ddGTP. Similarly the effect of ddCTP was measured in the polymerase buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 50 mM NaCl, 20 mM MgCl₂, 0.1% NP-40, 50 μ M of dATP, dGTP, and dTTP and 0.1 μ M of $[\alpha - 3^2 P]$ dCTP with various concentrations of ddCTP. When core particles were assayed for reverse transcriptase activity, actinomycin D was added to the polymerase buffer at $100 \ \mu g \ ml.$ The reaction was stopped after 2 minutes by the addition of 4 µl of a mixture containing 100 mM EDTA and 0.5% SDS. The replicative core particles were incubated at 37° C for another 30 minutes, followed by precipitation in 5 ml of 103 TCA. The inhibitory effects of ddGTP and ddCTP were measured by calculating the decrease in the incorporation of

 $[\alpha^{-32}F]$ labelled deoxynucleotides into the TCA precipitated nucleic acids. In these experiments, I followed the procedure for DNA polymerase assay described bvBartenschlager and Schaller (1988). I also measured the incorporation of $[\alpha - ^{32}\text{P}]$ labelled deoxynucleotides into TCA precipitated nucleic acids over a short time period with the replicative core particles I prepared. The time (2 minutes) selected for the inhibition test was well below the time (10)minutes) required for the reaction to plateau under the conditions I have used. The inhibitory effect is best determined during the phase of rapid incorporation of radiolabelled deoxynucleotides

Electrophoresis of the Products of Endogenous Labelling. The reaction mixture for endogenous labelling was heated to 60° C for 20 minutes after the addition of SDS (2%) and ß-mercaptoethanol (2%). One μ g of tRNA was added to the mixture and the nucleic acids were precipitated with 0.3 M NaOAc and 2 volumes of ethanol at -70° C. The precipitate was pelleted by centrifugation in an Eppendorf centrifuge at 4° C for 15 minutes. After the sample was dried, the pellet was dissolved in 10 μ l of TE buffer and electrophoresed on a 1.5% SDS-agarose gel with TAE buffer containing 0.1% CDS. After electrophoresis, the gel was rinsed with TAE buffer for 30 minutes with gentle agitation, dried overnight and exposed to X-ray film at room temperature for approximately 2 hours.

Northern Blot Hybridization. A sample of viral RNA in H₂O (4.7 μ l) was added to 14 μ l of solution containing 10 $\mu\,l\,$ of formamide, 2 $\mu\,l\,$ of formaldehyde and 2 $\mu\,l\,$ of 10x MOPS (10: MOPS contains 200 mM MOPS, 50 mM NaOAc and 10 mM EDTA, oH 7.0). The RNA solution was heated to 65° C for 10 minutes and the liquid condensed inside the tube was brought down by a short centrifugation in an Eppendorf centrifuge. The RNA vas electrophoresed in a 1% agarose gel with running buffer containing 1x MOPS and 1 M formaldehyde (37% formaldehyde is 12.3 M). After electrophoresis, the gel was soaked in 20x SSC at room temperature for 30 minutes with gentle shaking. The RNA fragments were transferred to a nylon membrane with 20×100 and fixed onto the membrane by baking at 80° C for 2 hour ... Prehybridization was performed at 42° C overnight in X PIPES (20x PIPES contains 3 M NaCl, 0.1 M PIPES and 0.1 M EDTA), 50% formamide, 5x Denhardt's solution, 0.2% SDS, and 100 µg/ml of denatured salmon sperm DNA. Hybridization was done in the presence of an $[\alpha^{-32}P]$ labelled DHBV DNA probe under the same conditions as the prehybridization. The membrane was washed 4 times in 0.5x SSC and 0.1% SDS at 65° C for 30 minutes each. Following this, the membrane was washed in 0 5x SSC at room temperature for 30 minutes, wrapped in Saran wrap and exposed to X-ray film as described previously (see Chapter 2, dot hybridization).

Preparation of Nuclear and Cytoplasmic Extracts for Terminal Protein Binding to $[\alpha^{35}S]$ ddATP. An

attempt to demonstrate the binding of $[\alpha^{35}S]$ ddATP to the terminal protein was based on studies done with adenovirus by Challberg, et al. (1980). Primary hepatocyte cultures were prepared in 60-mm tissue culture plates (about 2.5 x 10° cells/plate) from DHBV infected ducks. Cells were cultured at 37° C for 8 days and collected by scraping the cell with a rubber pliceman in ice cold buffer containing 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 7 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM NaCl and 0.25 M sucrose. The cell suspension was centrifuged in a Beckman JA20 rotor at 3000 rpm at 4° C for 5 minutes. The supernatant was removed and the cell pellet was suspended in the same buffer (1 \times 10⁸ cells/2.5 ml) with 0.1% 2-mercaptoethanol and 700U/ml RNase inhibitor (RNasin). The cell suspension was homogenized by 10 strokes in a Dounce homogenizer and centrifuged in Beckman JA20 rotor at 4000 rpm at 4° C for 5 minutes to pellet the nuclei. The supernatant, containing the cytoplasmic fraction, was clarified by centrifugation at 12,000 rpm for 20 minutes. This cytoplasmic extract was stored at -20° C in 200 μ l aliquots. The nuclear pellet was suspended in 1.25 ml of 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 100 mM NaCl and 10% sucrose and kept on ice for 1 hour, before being centrifuged in an Eppendorf centrifuge at 4° C for 20 minutes. The supernatant was stored at -20° C in 100 μ l aliquots. The protein concentrations of the cytoplasmic extract and nuclear extract were determined by a modified Lowry method (Markwell, et al., 1978).

Binding Assay. The binding of $[\alpha^{-35}S]$ ddATP to viral protein was carried out in a $100-\mu$ l reaction mixture containing 140 µg of cytoplasmic extract, 30 µg of nuclear extract, 100 mM ATP, 4 μ l of [α -35S]ddATP (12.4 mCi/ml) and 25 units of RNase inhibitor (Amersham Canada Ltd) at 37° C for 1 hour. The reaction was stopped by the addition of EDTA to 20 mM followed by precipitation in 10% TCA on ice for 10 The pellet was washed with cold acetone once and minutes. dried. The sample was dissolved in 80 μ l of sample buffer (62.5 mM Tris-H3PO4 pH 6.8, 2% SDS, 0.2% DTT, 0.1% EDTA and 10% glycerol), heated to 100° C for 2-5 minutes and electrophoresed on a 10% SDS-PAGE gel. The gel was soaked in 1 M sodium salicylate for 30 minutes at room temperature with gentle agitation, dried and exposed to X-ray film with an enhancer screen at -70° C.

Preparation of DHBV Virions from Sera of DHBV Infected Ducks. The sera of DHBV infected ducks were centrifuged at 5,000 rpm at 4° C for 10 minutes to remove debris, layered over 20 ml of a 10%-20% sucrose gradient in 0.15 M NaCl and 20 mM Tris HCl, pH7.4 and centrifuged in a Beckman SW27 rotor at 23,000 rpm at 4° C for 16 hours. The pellet containing the virus was suspended in TE buffer and sonicated with a needle sonicator for one minute at 4° C. The virions were treated with nuclease (2 units/ml, *Staphylococcus aureus*) in the presence of 7 mM CaCl₂ at 37° C for 30 minutes after which the treatment was stopped by addition of EGTA to 10 mM. The virions were layered on ∞ mills of a 15%-30% sucrose gradient and centrifuged in a Beckman SW60 rotor at 50,000 rpm at 4° C for 3 hours. The pellet was again suspended in TE buffer by sonication for one minute.

Terminal Protein-DNA Complex Preparation of (TPDC) from DHBV Virions. The TPDC was prepared using the method previously described by Molnar-Kimber, et al. (1983) with minor modifications. A DHBV virion suspension harvested from 300 ml of serum from DHBV positive ducks was adjusted with SDS to 2% and ß-mercaptoethanol to 2% and incubated at 60° C for 20 minutes to disrupt the virions. The suspension was layered onto 4 ml of a 5% -20% sucrose gradient prepared in 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH7.4, 10 mM EDTA, 0.15 SDS and 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) and centrifuged in a Beckman SW60 rotor at 50,000 rpm at 4° C for 4.3 hours. Fractions (200 μ l) were collected from the bottom of the tube. DHBV-DNA positive fractions, as identified by dot hybridization, were pooled and precipitated with 0.3 M NaOAc and 2 volumes of cold ethanol. The TPDC was pelleted by centrifugation in a Beckman JA20 rotor at 12,000 rpm at 44 C for 30 minutes. The pellet was dissolved in 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH7.5, 10 mM EDTA and 0.1% SDS by heating to 68° C in a water bath. The SDS was then removed by washing the solution 4 times with 1 ml of TE buffer in a centricon-30 microconcentrator (Amicon Canada Ltd) in a Beckman JA20 rotor at 7,000 rpm at 20° C for 20 minutes. The TPDC solution was

adjusted to 0.3 M NaCl and loaded onto a benzoylated naphthoylated DEAE (BND)-cellulose column (Serva Feinbiochemica GMBH.& Co) by passing the solution though the column 3 times (Heuson, 1978). The column was washed 3 times with 3 column-volumes of 0.3 M NaCl, 10 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, Double stranded DNA was eluted with 3 and 10 mM EDTA. column-volumes of 1 M NaCl, 10 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4 and 10 mM EDTA. Single stranded DNA was eluted with 3 column-volumes of 1 M NaCl, 2% caffeine, 10 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4 and 10 mM EDTA. TPDC was eluted with 3 column-volumes of 1 M urea, 1% SDS, 10 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4 and 10 mM EDTA. Each type of effluent was collected in 0.5 ml fractions. Complete elution of each DNA species was confirmed by dot hybridization showing the absence of DHBV-DNA in the later effluents for each step. The effluent containing TPDC was washed 5 times with 10 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5 and 0.1 mM EDTA in a centricon-30 microconcentrator. The amount of TPDC obtained was estimated to be about 8 x 10^{-2} pico moles.(170 ng DNA) by dot hybridization and comparison with known amounts of DHBV-DNA in the plasmid. The presence of terminal protein linked to the DHBV-DNA molecule was confirmed by a change in the mobility of DHBV-DNA on 1.5% agarose-SDS gel after digestion with proteinase K (Molnar-Kimber, et al. 1983).

Iodination of TPDC. Iodination of the protein in the TPDC was done by two methods. The first method was iodination with Iodo-Gen (1,3,4,6-tetrachloro-3a, 6a-diphenyl glycouril, Pierce Chemical Co.). Twenty μ l of Iodo-Gen (2 mg/ml in chloroform) were added to an acid cleaned glass tube (12 x 75 mm). The tube was slowly vortexed and the chloroform was evaporated under a gentle stream of nitrogen. The Iodo-Gen coated tubes were stored at 4° C in the dark. The reaction was carried out by addition of TPDC (20 ng of DNA/40 μ l) and [¹²⁵I]Na (8 mBq/2 μ l) to the tube which was rotated on ice for 5 minutes. After passing the reaction mixture though a glass-wool-plugged Pasteur pipet, the reaction was stopped by passing 40 μ l of cysteine (1 mg/ml in PBS) through the Pasteur pipet.

A second method for iodination of TPDC used the Bolton and Hunter reagent (N-succinimidyl 3- [4-hydroxy-3, $5-[^{125}I]$) di-iodo-phenyl] propionate, Amersham Canada Ltd). TPDC (20 ng of DNA/40 μ l) was coprecipitated with 2 μ g of tRNA. The nucleic acids were pelleted by centrifugation in an Eppendorf centrifuge for 15 minutes. The pellet was dried and dissolved in 10 µl of 0.1 M borate buffer pH 8.5 (prepared by the addition of 0.1 M Na borate to 0.1 M boric acid until the pH reached 8.5). Bolton and Hunter reagent (0.5 mCi) in organic solvent was evaporated to dryness as described in the instruction sheet and the tube was placed on ice immediately. The TPDC in borate buffer was transferred to this tube and the reaction was allowed to proceed on ice for 15 minutes with gentle agitation.

After labelling the TPDC by either method, the sample was transferred to a millipore disc filter with pore size 0.05 μ m (millipore VMWP0.05, Millipore Corp. Bedford, Mass.) and dialyzed against 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0 and 0.1 mM EDTA overnight. The TPDC samples were washed 4 times in a centricon-30 microconcentrator, with 1 ml of 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5. The sample containing about 4 x 10⁶ cpm in a volume of 2 μ l was subjected to enzymatic digestion as described below.

Enzymatic Digestion of [125I] Labelled TPDC. [125I] Labelled TPDC was digested with DNase I (5 units/10 µI, Sigma Chem. Co.) in 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0 and 10 mM MgCl₂, or with Micrococcal endonuclease (1 unit/ 10 µI, Sigma Chem. Co.) in 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.8 and 7 mM CaCl₂, or proteinase K (5 µg/10 µI, Sigma Chem. Co.) in 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0 and 0.5% SDS. All digestion mixtures were incubated at 37° C for 2 hours. After digestion, the samples were analyzed by electrophoresis on a SDS-Urea-PAGE gel (SDS-UREA gel, Pharmacia Canada Inc.) followed by exposure to X-ray film for 2-4 hours at room temperature.

RESULTS

4.1 Effects of ddGTP and ddCTP on DHBV DNA Polymerase and Reverse Transcriptase Activities.

The competition and chain termination effects of ddCTP and ddGTP on the viral DNA polymerase or reverse transcriptase activities were studied utilizing endogenous labelling in the replicative core particles. The polymerase of DHBV contains both DNA polymerase and reverse transcriptase activities. Therefore the products of 32P-dNTPincorporation represent a composite of both activities. The addition of actinomycin D to the reaction mixture blocks DNA polymerase activity and allow us to examine the effects of ddGTP or ddCTP on reverse transcriptase activity alone.

To examine these effects of ddGTP on enzymatic activity, the reaction mixture was adjusted to contain $[\alpha^{-32}P]dGTP$ at a relatively low concentration (0.1 μ M) and ddGTP at increasing concentrations of 0.5 μ M to 10 μ M. The result is shown in figure 4.1 A. ddGTP was not an effective competitor of dGTP binding to the DHBV polymerase (DNA polymerase and reverse transcriptase) since ddGTP at concentrations 100-fold higher than the concentration of dGTP (10 μ M ddGTP vs 0.1 μ M (α -³²P]dGTP), decreased the incorporation of [α -³²P]dGTP into viral DNA by only 20%. When actinomycin D was added to the reaction mixture at 100 μ g/ml, the incorporation of Figure 4.1.

Effect of ddGTP or ddCTP on the incorporation of the analogous nucleotide into DHBV-DNA by polymerase and reverse transcriptase activities of DHBV. Panel A: Inhibition of nucleotide incorporation into DHBV DNA by DNA polymerase (--•) and reverse transcriptase (o-o) by ddGTP. DNA polymerase activity was measured by the incorporation of $[\alpha - 3^{2}P]$ labelled dGTP into TCA precipitative material. Reverse transcriptase was measured by incorporation of $\left[\alpha - 3^{2}P\right]$ labelled dGTP in the presence of actinomycin D (100 μ g/ml). The results are expressed as percentages of radioactivity incorporated relative to the amount incorporated in the absence of chain terminators (100%). Each datum point represents the mean of three individual experiments. Panel B: Experimental conditions were similar to those described for panel A except that incorporation into TCA precipitative material was measured after the incorporation of $[\alpha - {}^{32}P]$ labelled dCTP, and ddCTP was used in place of ddGTP.



 $(\alpha - 32P)$ dGTP into the minus strand of DNA was decreased by about 10% at high concentration s of ddGTP.

The competition and chain termination effects of ddCTS on DHBV-DNA polymerase was examined in experiments that were similar to those used for ddGTP (Figure 4.1. B). The reactions were carried out in the presence of 0.1 μ M cl (α - ^{32}P) dCTP with varying concentrations of ddCTP. Like ddGTP, ddCTP was a relatively weak chain terminator for this reaction (a composite of DNA polymerase and reverse transcriptase). In the presence of actinomycin \mathbb{D}_r ddCTP at a concentration 10 times higher than that of [α - ^{32}P] dCTP resulted in about a 60% decrease in the incorporation of [α - ^{32}P] dCTP. Under the conditions used in these experiments, the 50% inhibition nucleotide incorporation was 3.2 μ M and 0.9 μ M for ddGTP and ddCTP respectively.

4.2 A Comparison of the Effect of ddDAPR or ddC Treatment on Viral Nucleic Acids in Replicative Core Particles.

I have examined viral DNA and pregenomic RNA in replicative core particles isolated from the livers of ducks treated with 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides in order to test the effects of these compounds on viral nucleic acids in these particles. Four week old animals were treated for two weeks with placebo (2ml/kg), ddDAPR (10 mg/kg) or ddC (10 mg/kg) given by intramuscular injection, twice daily. The replicative core particles were isolated from the livers of treated ducks using the method described by Summers and Mason (1982). Viral DNA and pregenomic RNA were extracted from the The results of Southern blot replicative core particles. hybridization are shown in figure 4.2. Viral DNA in the replicative core particles of placebo-treated animals contains two major forms of DHBV DNA, namely linear and relaxed circular (RC) forms (Fig. 4.2, lane C). Treatment with ddC (Fig. 4.2, lane B) resulted in a profile of viral DNA that changed very little indicating little or no inhibitory effect of ddC on the viral DNA in the replicative core particles. However, treatment with ddDAPR dramatically decreased viral DNA in the replicative core particles (Fig. 4.2, lane A). With longer exposure a weak band could be detected at the RC position (data not shown). This suggested that ddDAPR strongly inhibited DHBV replication at the level of DNA synthesis in the replicative core particles. The nearly complete inhibition of DNA synthesis suggests thatsynthesis of both strands of viral DNA was affected by ddDAPR treatment.

The results of Northern blot hybridization are shown in figure 4.3. Pregenomic RNA in the sample from placebo treated ducks (Fig. 4.3, lane C) shows 2 major bands in the 3.4-3.5 kb range. There is also a smear below 3.4 kb. This probably represents the status of the pregenomic RNA in the replicative core particles during the DNA synthesis, although Figure 4.2.

Southern blot hybridization of DHBV DNA from replicating core particles isolated from livers of drug-treated and placebo-treated ducks. Animals were treated for 2 weeks and DNA was extracted from replicating cores isolated from liver tissue. Electrophoresis was performed in 1% agarose in TBE buff . Lanes A, B, and C represent the DNA from ddDAPR, ddC and placebo treated ducks, respectively. Positions of the markers are indicated on the left, with molecular weight being indicated in kilobases. The letters on the right identify relaxed circular (RC) and linear (L) forms of DHBV DNA.



Figure 4.3.

Northern blot hybridization of DHBV RNA from replicating core particles isolated from drug-treated and placebo-treated duck livers. Animals were treated for 2 weeks prior to sacrifice. Electrophoresis was performed in a 1% agarose gel containing 1 M formaldehyde. Lanes A, B and C represent the samples obtained from ducks treated with ddDAPR, ddC and placebo, respectively. The position of the molecular weight markers are indicated in kilobases on the left.



Some RNA breakdown may also have occurred during its preparation. This result was consistently obtained in four experiments. Pregenomic RNA in the replicative cores isolated from ddC treated animals (Fig. 4.3, lane B) was almost identical to that from placebo treated animals, which indicates that treatment with ddC had little effect on synthesis of pregenomic RNA. In contrast, treatment with ddDAPR decreased the amount of pregenomic RNA in replicative core particles (Fig. 4.3, lane A). However, the reduction in RNA was not as great as the reduction in viral DNA.

In summary, viral DNA synthesis in the replicative complex was almost completely inhibited by treatment with ddDAPR. ddDAPR treatment also decreased the level of pregenomic RNA, but to a much lesser extent, which suggests that this effect may be indirect. Treatment with ddC did not show any inhibitory effect on the accumulation of core particles containing viral DNA or pregenomic RNA.

Another set of experiments was done to examine more specifically the inhibitory effect of ddDAPR on the viral nucleic acids after 2 weeks of treatment with ddDAPR at 10 mg/kg, i.m.,bid. In this study, the replicative core particles were isolated from sucrose gradient fractions by the method of Bartenschlager and schaller (1988), which gave a little better endogenous labelling than the method of Summers and Mason (1982). I examined the ability of replicative core particles to incorporate radiolabelled

deoxynucleotides into viral DNA by endogenous labelling. The core particles in each fraction (1 to 15) from a sucrose gradient were tested in a separate endogenous labelling reaction. The cores were then disrupted and the products of the labelling were electrophoresed on 1.5% agarose gels containing 0.1% SDS. The gels were dried and exposed to X ray film for autoradiography. In the preparations trom placebo-treated animals, most of the label in the replicative core particle fractions numbered 1-5 was found in the RC band whereas fractions numbered 6-10 had labelled DNA of various forms including single stranded, linear and RC (Fig. 4.4, panel A). There was very little labelled product detectable after endogenous labelling reactions with the replicative core particles in similar sucrose gradient fractions taken from ddDAPR treated animals (Fig. 4.4, panel B). Only a small smear of single stranded DNA was seen in fractions numbered 7-8. This indicated that viral DNA elongation was blocked by treatment with ddDAPR. All of these animals were sacrificed 6 hours after receiving the last dose of ddDAPR. Studies have shown that the half life of the drug is approximately 30 min in duck blood (personal communication, T. Kitos). This fact, combined with the fact that the preparation of the replicative core involves centrifugation through two sucrose gradients, would imply that there should be no free ddDAPR in these preparations to inhibit reverse transcriptase or DNA polymerase during the endogenous labelling reaction.

1.1.4

Figure 4.4.

SDS-agarose gel electrophoresis followed by autoradiography of endogenously labelled viral DNA products. Numbers 1 to 15 across the top indicate the sucrose gradient fractions collected after centrifugation of samples from placebo (panel A) or ddDAPR treated (panel B) ducks. Each fraction was used in a separate reaction for endogenous labelling, following which the reaction mixtures were subjected to electrophoresis and autoradiography. Letters on the left identify relaxed circular (RC) and linear (L) forms of the viral DNA.


checked the viral nucleic acids in the same preparation of replicative core particles and the result of the Southern blot shows a considerable decrease in the amount of viral DNA as a result of treatment with ddDAPR (Fig. 4.5).

4.3 Attempts to Identify the Terminal Protein of Duck Hepatitis B virus.

The demonstration of a protein bound to the complete DNA strand of HBV virions was first reported by Gerlich and Robinson (1980). This observation was expanded by Molnar-Kimber et al. (1983) when they demonstrated the binding of the protein to the 5' end of nascent minus strand DNA in DHBV replicative cores. When I began my studies, there was little known about the size or origin of this terminal protein. However, recent studies by Bosch et al. (1988) have provided evidence that the terminal protein is derived from the viral polymerase. We have proposed the mechanism that purine 2', 3'-dideoxynucleosides specifically inhibit viral DNA synthesis by covalently bonding to the terminal protein (see discussion). If this hypothesis is true, then we should be able to specifically label the terminal protein with $\alpha\text{-}$ labelled ³⁵S-ddATP. This marker was used since at the time of these studies it was the only α -labelled dideoxynucleotide available. These studies were complicated by the fact that while nucleosides cross cell membranes easily, nucleotides do Therefore we used cell lysates to attempt to not.

Figure 4.5.

Southern blot hybridization of viral DNA from replicative core particles isolated from livers of placebo (Panel A) or ddDAPR (Panel B) treated ducks. The numbers across the top and the letters on the left indicate sucrose gradient fractions and viral DNA forms as described in the legend to figure 4.4.

.



demonstrate covalently binding of the labelled nucleotide to the terminal protein.

The results of incubating $[\alpha - 35S]$ ddATP with cytoplasmic and nuclear extracts from DHBV infected and uninfected hepatocytes are shown in figure 4.6. In these studies, which were repeated three times, we have consistently found that the labelled nucleotide binds to a protein of approximately 14 kDa in the cell extracts of infected hepatocytes. This protein was not found in incubation mixtures prepared from uninfected hepatocytes. These results are very preliminary and suffer from the lack of an appropriately labelled pyrimidine dideoxynucleotide which should be used as a control to determine the specificity of the binding. We placed a custom order for α -labelled ³⁵S-ddCTP and ³⁵S-ddGTP, however the chemists at Dupont have been unable to synthesize these analogues at present.

In the meantime, I have attempted to determine the molecular weight of terminal protein. My approach was to purify the terminal protein-DNA complex (TPDC), iodinate the protein, remove the DNA by enzymatic digestion, and identify the iodinated protein by gel electrophoresis. First, I iodinated the TPDC from purified DHBV virions and examined two aliquots of the preparation, one with and one without proteinase K digestion, on SDS-agarose gels to confirm the presence of the terminal protein on DHBV DNA genome (Fig. 4.7). There was a change in mobility of the genomic DNA

after proteinase K digestion. The protein of the TPDC was then labelled with ¹²⁵I and the labelled product was digested with either DNase I or Micrococcal endonuclease to remove the DNA from the TPDC before electrophoresis of the protein. Ι have tried a number of electrophoresis systems to detect the labelled terminal protein. Only with SDS-Urea-PAGE gel electrophoresis was I able to show a unique protein band, as shown in figure 4.8. In a 12% PAC rel containing SDS (0.1%) and urea (8 M), there was a band detectable after the digestion with DNase I (Fig. 4.8, column b) or Micrococcal endonuclease (Fig. 4.8, column c). No corresponding band was detected with the undigested TPDC (Fig. 4.8, column a). The molecular weight of this protein was approximately 10 kDa. When the TPDC was treated with proteinase K, all of the iodinated protein disappeared (Fig. 4.8, column d). These results were complicated by a large amount of iodinated material (presumably protein since it disappears with proteinase K digestion) at the crugins of both the stacking and separation gels. The nations of this protein is unclear, but it could be an aggregate of protein, or protein-DNA if the digestion with DNase I or nuclease were not complete.

Figure 4.6.

SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis and autoradiography of the proteins labelled in a "binding assay" with [³⁵S]ddATP. Column a shows the proteins from a reaction containing an uninfected duck hepatocyte lysate. Column b shows the proteins from a reaction containing a DHBV-infected duck hepatocyte lysate. The arrow indicates a band which may represent a viral protein bound to [³⁵S]ddATP. Numbers on the left indicate the positions of molecular weight marker proteins.



14-



Figure 4.7.

Southern blot hybridization of the terminal protein-DNA complex (TPDC). TPDC was electrophoresed on 1.5% agarose containing 0.1% SDS with no treatment (lane b) or after treatment with proteinase K (50 μ g/ml, for 30 min at 37° C) (lane c). A mixture of molecular weight markers was run in lane a and molecular weights corresponding to these markers are indicated in kilobases on the left.



Figure 4.8.

SDS-Urea-PAGE gel electrophoresis and autoradiography of the $[^{125}I]$ -labelled terminal protein-DNA complex (TPDC). Lane a illustrates the proteins from $[^{125}I]$ -labelled TPDC before enzymatic digestion. Lanes b, c, and d show the proteins from $[^{125}I]$ -labelled TPDC after digestion with (b) DNase I, or (c) Micrococcal nuclease, or (d) proteinase K. Numbers on the left indicate the positions of molecular weight (in kilodalton) protein markers. Arrows indicate the band which may be the terminal protein.



DISCUSSION

DHBV replication is strongly inhibited by purine but not by pyrimidine 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides. This was an interesting finding and one which we could exploit to try to determine the unique effect of the purine analogues. Firstly, I examined the competition and chain termination effects of ddGTP and ddCTP on viral DNA polymerase and reverse transcriptase activities in order to test whether these two dideoxynucleotide analogues can effectively compete with their corresponding deoxynucleotides to terminate DNA chain elongation. My results show that both ddCTP and ddGTP are relatively weak chain terminators under the condition [used in these experiments. These effects of ddGTP were inadequate to account for the marked inhibitory effect of ddG on virus clearance in cell cultures or the rapid clearance of the virus from sera of ducks treated in vivo (Suzuki et al., 1988, Lee et al., 1989). The chain termination effects of ddGTP and ddCTP in my studies are in reasonable agreement with the results of Lofgren et al. (1989). In their study, the IC₅₀ for reverse transcriptase was 7 μ M for ddCTP and 1 μ M for ddGTP. The IC50 values obtained in my studies were 0.9 μ 4 and 3.2 µM for ddCTP and ddGTP, respectively. Lofgren et al. (1989) also reported that ddTTP had an IC₅₀ of 0.4 μ M for DNA polymerase and 4.1 µM for reverse transcriptase. From my results and the results reported by Lofgren et al. (1989), it is not possible to attribute the marked difference between the abilities of the purine and the pyrimidine analogues to inhibit hepadnavirus replication to differential effects on either DNA polymerase or reverse transcriptase. We found that ddT was completely ineffective as an inhibitor of DHBV replication, yet ddTTP is comparable to ddGTP in its ability to inhibit DNA polymerase and reverse transcriptase (Lofgren et al., 1989).

A possible explanation for the different effects of the purine and pyrimidine dideoxynucleosides could be differences in the rates of phosphorylation to the mono, di and triphosphate nucleotides. The metabolism of these analogues in cell cultures has been studied and reported at the Molecular Biology of Hepatitis B Virus Meeting in San Diego (Kitos and Tyrrell, 1990). These studies demonstrated that differential rates of phosphorylation were not sufficient to explain the marked differences observed in the inhibition of DHBV.

The effects of ddDAPR and ddC on viral replication have also been compared by measuring the DNA and RNA in the replicative core particles. The results have demonstrated that ddDAPR effectively inhibits accumulation of core particles containing viral DNA. Although there was a decrease in the amount of pregenomic RNA with ddDAPR treatment, the decrease was not as great as the decrease in viral DNA. This suggested that ddDAPR had a direct effect on DNA synthesis which probably led to an indirect effect on

139

pregenomic RNA synthesis. In contrast, treatment with ddd did not show any inhibitory effects on the accumulation of core particles containing either viral DNA or pregenomic RNA.

I believe that treatment with ddDAPR should also cause a decrease in the production of the total number of replicative core particles in duck livers. The decreases in viral DNA and pregenomic RNA that are evident in the Southern and Northern blots of replicative core particles are in part consequence of a decreased amount of replicative core particles in ddDAPR treated ducks. Unfortunately, I did not have good antisera against core particles which could have been used to standardize the amounts of core particles used for these studies Nevertheless, the results of the Northern blot indicated that a much lower reduction occurs in pregenomic RNA than in viral DNA as analyzed on the Southern blot. It is possible that the decrease in pregenomic RNA reflects the decrease in total replicative core particles, which in turn is a consequence of the decrease in cccDNA in the nuclei of the hepatocytes (see Chapter 3). The greater decrease in viral DNA could be accounted for by a combined decreases in core particles and inhibition of viral DNA synthesis within the particles.

The analysis of DNA in the replicative core particles from ddDAPR treated animals showed that almost all viral DNA chains were blocked at an early stage of DNA synthesis, although there were still pregenomic RNA templates. The fact that the effect can be seen in the endogenous labelling reaction suggests that the blockage of viral DNA synthesis by ddDAPR must be the result of very strong binding of the inhibitor to its target since any inhibitor not tightly bound should be removed during the preparation of the replicative cores. The binding of the inhibitor to its target probably involves covalent bonding although the possibility that some other form of irreversible inhibition cannot yet be excluded. The fact that some dideoxynucleoside analogues inhibit DHBV replication while others do not may enable us to test the hypothesis that the mechanism of this inhibition involves covalent or tight binding of an inhibitor to its target.

Based on the current knowledge of hepadnavirus replication, we have carefully looked at the steps which may possibly serve as specific targets for inhibition by 2',3'dideoxyguancsine during the viral replication. During hepadnavirus replication, the first step is repair of the single stranded gap in the plus strand of DNA before the viral genome is converted into cccDNA. The frequency of dGs in this gap is not very high. In fact, dC is the most frequently occurring nucleotide in the last 100 nucleotides of the plus stand of the DHBV genome. Thus, it is unlikely that the step of repairing the gap is the unique target for dideoxyguanosine analogues. After the partially doublestranded genome is converted into cccDNA, pregenomic RNA is produced from the cccDNA by RNA polymerase II. The

141

pregenomic RNA serves as the template for minus strand DNA synthesis in the replicative cores. This synthesis is primed by a protein and the initial nucleotide bound to the terminal protein is deoxyguanoylic acid in DHBV (Fig. 1.3). As 1 mentioned in the introduction, deoxyguanylic acid appears to be conserved as the first nucleotide in the minus strand DNA of all hepadnaviruses sequenced to date. It is not unreasonable to expect that this deoxyguanylic acid or deoxyquanosine triphosphate is very important in initiation of DNA synthesis by the viral polymerase, and that it may also be the site for specific inhibition by dideoxyguanosine triphosphate analogues. Inhibition of DNA synthesis can also occur during chain elongation. Both purine and pyrimidine 2',3'-dideoxynucleotides have the potential to block chain elongation. The efficiency of inhibition should be dependent upon the ability of a dideoxynucleotide analogue to compete with the natural nucleotides in the elongation process. This competition probably occurs, however, my studies on these effects of ddGTP and ddCTP on the viral DNA polymerase activity failed to show a significant differential effect. Another interesting potential site for inhibition is the initiation of plus strand DNA. This step is a complex process and involves two template switches (21) oligoribonucleotide primer switch and an intramolecular switch, see Fig. 1.2). However it is unlikely that this is the specific site of action purine of 21,31dideoxynucleosides since no site seems specific for ddG or

ddA. Further, the results of my studies show that the DNA synthesis must be blocked very early since there is inhibition of both negative and positive strand. Inhibiton at this late step would have shown greater inhibition of the plus stand than the minus strand.

Considering all possibilities, I suggest that the first nucleotide linked to the terminal protein is most likely to be the specific target for inhibition by 2',3'dideoxyguanosine analogues. Therefore I have proposed that the 2',3'-dideoxyguanosine analogues compete with the initial deoxyguanosine nucleotide for linkage to the terminal protein and inhibit DHBV replication at early stage.

Other purine 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides such as ddA and ddI have shown some inhibitory effects on DHBV replication in hepatocyte cultures. I hypothesize that this is a result of some "wobble" in the purine base that binds to the terminal protein. For example, a $C \cdot A^+$ wobble base pair could be formed (Hunter, *et al.* 1986). Therefore, if the inhibition of DHBV replication by purine 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides does occur at the initiation step of minus strand DNA synthesis, purine dideoxynucleoside analogues other than ddG and ddDAPR could also inhibit viral replication, but probably with lesser efficiencies. The results of my studies done *in vitro* (Fig.2.3) and *in vivo* (Fig. 2.4) seem to match this hypothesis. Other evidence supporting this possibility can be found in the report of Seeger *et al.*(1990). They have found that the synthesis of the minus strand DNA could be initiated at sites encoding either dG or dA, but not at sites encoding a pyrimidine deoxynucleotide. This indicates that the viral enzyme has a preference for the purine deoxynucleotides in initiating the synthesis of the minus strand. With this data and data from our *in vitro* studies, we were encouraged to try to label the terminal protein with α -labelled ³⁵S-ddATP since this was the only α -labelled purine 2',3'-dideoxynucleoside available at the time of these studies.

Identification of the terminal protein may be necessary in order to obtain direct evidence to support our hypothesis. However, this identification is not easy because, in contrast to the situation with adenoviruses, there is no in vitro replication system for hepadnaviruses. Our idea for a "binding assay" was based on a hope that the reaction with ddGTP or ddATP, similar to that which normally occurs with dGTP in initiation of the synthesis of minus strand DNA, could take place in vitro. We therefore thought that $[\alpha^{35}\text{S}]\text{ddATP}$ might bind the terminal protein in lysates from infected hepatocytes. As I have shown in the binding assay, $[\alpha^{35}S]ddATP$ binds to a protein in DHBV-infected hepatocyte lysates which bands at approximately 14 kDa in SDS-PAGE. There was no evidence for such a labelled protein in reactions with extracrs from minfected hepatocytes. Vic. recognize that these studies are preliminary and the more

work with α -labelled ddGTP and ddCTP will be necessary to lend further support to our hypothesis.

The DNase and nuclease digested products of $[^{125}I]$ labelled TPDC also showed a protein band of a lower molecular weight (approximately 8-10 kDa on an SDS-urea PAGE gel). These observations suggest that a low molecular weight protein binds to the negative strand of DHBV DNA or is covalently bonded to α -labelled ³⁵S-ddATP. Stronger evidence for binding might be obtained by labelling the terminal protein with $[\alpha^{35}S]$ -ddGTP and immunoprecipitating the protein with a specific antiserum.

CHAPTER 5

GENERAL CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

The antiviral activity of some 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides against hepadnaviruses has been demonstrated using a DHBV model. The purine 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides are strong inhibitors of DHBV replication in DHBV infected primary hepatocyte cultures, with 2',3'-dideoxyguanosine and an analogue, ddDAPR, being the most effective of those I tested. The pyrimidine 2',3'-dideoxynucleoside analogues tested in my studies failed to show a strong inhibition of DHBV replication *in vitro*. This selective sensitivity of DHBV to the purine 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides suggests a unique mechanism of action for these active compounds.

Purine 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides demonstrated potent antiviral activity in vivo as well as in vitro. This observation was very encouraging and it strengthened my belief that these compounds have significant potential for the treatment of acute or chronic hepadnavirus infections. Once an effective agent has been found in an animal system, a great deal more work still needs to be completed before such an agent can be tried in humans, however. To list some of the studies that would need to be completed in this case, for example, we should show that the agents effective in the avian model will also work in the mammalian models, define the steps in uptake and metabolism of the compound, determine its mechanism of action, and toxicity. It would also be desirable to gain a better understanding of the molecular biology of the virus and its replication in order to better predict whether or not long term therapy could "cure" the chronic carrier. I have chosen to concentrate on three aspects of the project for my thesis work. I have carried out some of the preliminary screening of potentially interesting compounds, measured the half lives of some of the viral replicative intermediates using these antiviral agents as important tools, and finally, attempted to test my hypothesis concerning the unique mechanism of action of purine 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides.

Firstly, I want to discuss the antiviral screening studies. This system is relatively inexpensive to use, and reasonably rapid (3-4 weeks). More work will be required to ascertain whether or not activity in the duck model is predictive of activity in the human system. In preliminary studies using hepatoma cell lines transfected with HBV, the activities of a number of compounds have not correlated very well with their activities in DHBV-infected hepatocytes (Dorothy Tovell, Dr. Tyrrell's lab. and personal communication, Brent Korba, NIH). It is not possible at this time to say whether these differences can be attributed to differences between duck and human cells or between primary hepatocytes (non transformed cells) and cells of a hepatoma line. Secondly, I have utilized the potent *in vivo* antivital activities of these compounds to obtain new information about the half lives of the virion in serum and the coopNA in hepatocytes. I measured the rate of decrease of DHBV PNA in sera of treated ducks and found that the half life of DHBV DNA in sera was relatively short, namely from 11 to 14 hours. Not surprisingly, the half life of cccDNA in hepatocytes was considerably longer. This information will be useful in designing experiments in which we will try to "cure" a chronically infected animal.

Thirdly, I proposed a mechanism of inhibition of DHBV replication by ddDAPR based on the results of my in vitteredstudies and on the publication of the replicative pathway ϕ_1 hepadnaviruses (Summers and Mason, 1982). I hypothesized that 2',3'-dideoxyguanosine analogues compete with dGTP for binding to the terminal protein. The dideoxynucleotide analogue linked to the terminal protein cannot be removed and therefore inhibition of DHBV DNA replication by ddDAPR or d(t)occurs at the initial step of the minus strand synthesis. have attempted to obtain evidence regarding this hypothesis using three approaches. Firstly, I have shown that under the condition I used, ddGTP and ddCTP are not effective competitors of their corresponding deoxynucleotides with DHBV DNA polymerase or reverse transcriptase. It is hard to explain the different inhibitory effects between ddG and ddC by chain termination. It is possible that other specific

148

target for 2',3'-dideoxyguanosine analogues is involved. Secondly, accumulation of core particles containing viral DNA is largely inhibited in ddDAPR-treated ducks. In addition, pregenomic RNA is less affected by the treatment with ddDAPR. These results suggest that the inhibition of DHBV replication occurs at the stage of viral DNA synthesis in the replicative core complex. Examination of the occurrence of deoxyguanylic acid in various hepadnaviral DNA revealed that the first nucleotide on the minus strand DNA of the viral genome is conserved and is possibly the specific target. On this basis, I have tried to demonstrate binding of $[\alpha^{35}S]ddATP$ to Such a demonstration would the viral terminal protein. provide more direct evidence for our hypothesis. In these studies, I have obtained preliminary evidence that α -labelled ³⁵S-ddATP binds to a protein in infected cells, and that such a binding reaction cannot be detected in uninfected cells. More studies will be required to determine whether this is the terminal protein.

Fairly early in my thesis work, I treated DHBV-infected ducks with ddDAPR at 10 mg/kg bid for 7 months. The virus was rapidly cleared from the sera as tested by dot hybridization. However, within 3 weeks after cessation of the therapy, all three ducks showed a relapse as evidenced by reappearance of virus in the serum. Our more recent results show clearly that the dose used in these studies was suboptimal and that the drug must be given every 6-8 hours. An attempt to cure animals is now being undertaken based on this more complete information. Furthermore, it may be worthwhile to compare the response in congenitally infected and infected-at-birth animals since help from the immune system may be important in achieving a cure. Immune help is more likely to be present in infected-at-birth animals than in congenitally infected animals. In addition elimination is the virus from sera might better be assayed by a more sensitive means such as PCR instead of by simple d blocks.

Finally, I believe that chronic hepatitis B infection will some day be cured by antiviral therapy. I am not supe that the "best" antiviral agents will be the ones I nave discussed in my thesis. Other effective agents are likely to be discovered. It was most encouraging to me to discover that hepadnaviruses have "relatively short half lives" in serum (at least in the duck model). However, cccDNA in the hepatocyte appears to be very stable. More novel approaches to shorten the half-life of cccDNA or to selectively eliminate infected cells will have to be found to "cure" chronic carriers.

· · . ·

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ayoola, E.A. 1988. Viral hepatitis in Africa, p.161-169. In: A.J. Zuckerman (ed.), Viral hepatitis and liver diseases, Alan R. Liss, Inc., New York.
- Bartenschlager, R., and H. Schaller. 1988. The amino-terminal domain of the hepadnaviral P-gene encodes the terminal protein (genome-linked protein) believed to prime reverse transcriptase. EMBO J. **7**:4185-4192.
- Bavand, M.R., M. Feitelson, and O. Laub. 1989. The hepatitis B virus-associated reverse transcriptase is encoded by the viral pol gene. J. Virol. 63:1019-1021.
- Bavand, M.R., and O. Laub. 1988. The proteins with reverse transcriptase activities associated with hepatitis virus-like particles. J. Virol. 62:626-628.
- Beasley, R.P., L-Y. Hwang, C-C. Lin, and C-S. Chien. 1981. Hepatocellular carcinoma and hepatitis B virus. Lancet ii::129-1133.
- Beasley, R.P., C. Trepo, C.E. Stevens, and W. Szmuness. 1977. The e antigen and vertical transmission of hepatitis B surface antigen. Am. J. Epidemiol. 105:94-98.
- Birnbaum, F., and M. Nassal. 1990. Hepatitis B virus nucleocapsid assembly: Primary structure requirements in the core protein. J. Virol. **64**:3319-3330.
- Blum, H.E., W. Gerok, and G.N. Vyas. 1989. The molecular biology of hepatitis B virus. TIG 5:154-158.
- Blumberg, B.S. 1977. Australia antigen and the biology of hepatitis B. Science **197**:17-25.

- Blumberg, B.S., H.J. Alter, and S. Visnich. 1965. A "new" antigen in leukemia sera. JAMA 191:541-546.
- Blumberg, B.S., B.J.S. Gerstley, D.A. Hungerford, W.H. London, and A.I. Sutnick. 1967. A serum antigen (Australia antigen) in Down's syndrome, leukemia, and hepatitis. Ann. Intern. Med. 66:924-931.
- Bodenheimer, H.C., F. Schaffner, S. Vernace, S.Z. Hirschman, J.D. Goldberg, and T. Chalmers. 1983. Randominous controlled trial of quinacrine for the treatment of HBsAg-positive chronic hepatitis. Hepatology 3:930-038.
- Bosch, V., R. Bartenschlager, G. Radziwill, and H. Schaller. 1988. The duck hepatitis B virus P-gene codes for protein strongly associated with the 5'-end of the viral DNA minus strand. Virology 166:475-485.
- Bulla, G.A., and A. Siddiqui. 1988. The hepatitis B virus enhancer modulates transcription of the hepatitic E virus surface antigen gene from an internal location. J. Virol. 62:1437-1441.
- Buscher, M., W. Reiser, H. Will, and H. Schaller. 1985. Transcripts and the putative RNA pregenome of duck hepatitis B virus: Implications for reverse transcription. Cell 40:717-724.
- Cattaneo, R., H. Will, and H. Schaller. 1984. Hepatitic B virus transcription in the infected liver. EMBG J. 3:2191-2196.
- Chang, L-J., P. Pryciak, D. Ganem, and M.E. Varmus. 1989. Biosynthesis of the reverse transcriptase of hepatitle B virus involves de novo translational initiation not ribosomal frameshifting. Nature 337:364-397.

- Chen, P-J., C-R. Chen, J-L. Sung, and D-S. Chen. 1989. Identification of a doubly spliced viral transcript joining the separated domains for putative protease and reverse transcriptase of hepatitis B virus. J. Virol. 63:4165-4171.
- Chisari, F.V., K. Klopchin, S. Sell, H. Dunsford, C. Pinkert, R. Palmiter, and R. Brinster. 1989. Molecular pathogenesis of hepatocellular carcinoma in HEV transgenic mice, p. 17. Abs. In: Molecular biology of hepatitis B virus, Cold Spring Harbor, NY.
- Chung, W.K., H.S. Sun, D.H. Park, G.Y. Mink, and J.H. Hoofnagle. 1983. Primary hepatocellular carcinoma and hepatitis B virus infection in Korea. J. Med. Virol. 11:99-104.
- dzaja, A.J. 1986. Treatment strategies in chronic active hepatitis, p247-268. In A.J. Czaja and E.R. Dickson (ed.), Chronic active hepatitis. Mercel Dekker, Inc. New York.
- Dane, D.S., and C. H. Cameron. 1970. Virus-like particles in serum of patients with Australia-antigen-associated hepatitis. Lancet i:695-698.
- Davis, G.L., and J.H. Hoofnagle. 1986. Interferon in viral hepatitis: Role in pathogenesis and treatment. Hepatology 6:1038-1041.
- De Clercq, E. 1987. New selective antiviral agents active against the AIDS virus. TIPS 8:339-345.
- Di Bisceglie, A.M., V.K. Rustgi, J.H. Hoofnagle, G.M. Dusheiko, and M.T. Lotze. 1988. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Ann. Intern. Med. 108:390-401.

- Enders, G.H., D. Ganem, and H. Varmus. 1985. Mapping the major transcripts of ground squirrel hepatitis virus: The presumptive template for reverse transcriptase is terminally redundant. Cell **42**:297-308.
- Enders, G.H., D. Ganem, and H. Varmus. 1987. 5'-Terminal sequences influence the segregation of ground squired hepatitis virus RNAs into polyribosomes and viral correparticles. J. Virol. **61**:35-41.
- Farraye, F.A., D.M. Mamish, and J.B. Zeldis. 1980. Preliminary evidence that azidothymidine does not atteat hepatitis B virus replication in acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) patients. J. Med. Virol. 29:266-267.
- Feitelson, M.A., P.L.Marion, and W.S. Robinson. 1983. The nature of polypeptides larger in size than the major surface antigen components of hepatitis B and like viruses in ground squirrels, woodchucks, and ducks. Virology 130:76-90.
- Galibert, F., T.N Chen, and E. Mandart. 1982. Nucleotide sequence of a cloned woodchuck hepatitis virus genome: Comparison with the hepatitis B virus sequence. J. Virol. 41:51-65.
- Galibert, F., E Mandart, F. Fitoussi, P. Tiollaris, and P. Chounay. 1979. Nucleotide sequence of the hepatitic E virus genome (subtype ayw) cloned in E.coli. Hature 281:646-650.
- Ganem,.D. 1982. Persistent infection of humans with hepatitic B virus: mechanisms and consequences. Rev. Infect. Dis. 4:1026-1047.

- Ganem, D., L. Greenbaum, and H.E. Varmus. 1982. Virion DNA of ground squirrel hepatitis virus: Structural analysis and molecular cloning. J. Virol. 44:374-383.
- Ganem, D., and H.E. Varmus. 1987. The molecular biology of the hepatitis B virus. Ann. Rev. Biochem. **56**:651-693.
- Garcia, C., C.I. Smith, J.I. Weissberg, M. Eisenberg, J. Bissett, P.V. Nair, B. Mastre, S. Rosno, D. Roskamp, K. Waterman, R.B. Pollard, M.J. Tong, B.W. Brown, W.S. Robinson, and P.B. Gregory. 1987. Adenine arabinoside monophosphate (vidarabine phosphate) in combination with human leukocyte interferon in the treatment of chronic hepatitis B. Ann. Intern. Med. 107:278-285.
- Gerlich, W.H., and W.S. Robinson. 1980. Hepatitis B virus contains protein attached to the 5' terminus of its complete DNA strand. Cell **21**:801-809.
- Gitnick, G. 1989. Chronic hepatitis, p. 219-226. In G. Gitnick (ed.) Modern concepts of acute and chronic hepatitis. Plenum Medical Book Company, New York and London.
- Gust, I.D., C.J. Burrell, A.G. Coulepis, W.S. Robinson, and A.J. Zuckerman. 1986. Taxonomic classification of human hepatitis B virus. Intervirology **25**:14-29.
- Haritani, H., T. Uchida, Y. Okuda, and T. Shikata. 1989. Effect of 3'-azido-3'-deoxythymidine on replication of duck hepatitis virus in vivo and in vitro. J. Med. Virol. 29:244-248.
- Heermarm, K.H., U. Goldmann, W. Schwartz, T. Seyffarth, H. Baumgarten, and W. H. Gerlich. 1984. Larger surface proteins of hepatitis B virus containing the pre-S sequence. J. Virol. **52**:396-402.

- Hirschman, S.Z., and E. Garfinkel. 1978. Inhibition of hepatitis B DNA polymerase by intercalating agents. Nature 271:681-683.
- Hollinger, F.B., and J.L. Melnick. 1985. Epidemiology, p. 101-146. In: F.B. Hollinger, J.L. Melnick, and W.S. Robinson (ed.), Viral hepatitis, Raven Press, New York.

Hollinger, F.B. 1985. Clinical features, p. 71-100. Ibid.

- Hoofnagle, J.H., and H.J. Alter. 1984. Chronic visual hepatitis, p. 97-113. In: G.N. Vyas, J. Dienstad, and J.H. Hoofnagle (ed.), Viral hepatitis and liver disease, ISBN.
- Hoofnagle, J.H., G.L. Davis, S.C. Pappas, R.G. Hanson, M. Peter, M.I. Avigan, J.G. Waggoner, E.A. Jones, and L.B. Seeff. 1986. A short course of prednisolone in chronic type B hepatitis. Report of a randomized double-blind, placebo controlled trial. Ann. Intern. Med. 104:12-17.
- Hoofnagle, J.H., R.G. Hanson, G.Y. Minuk, S.C. Pappas, D.F. Schafer, G.M. Dusheiko, S.E. Strans, H. Popper, and E.M. Jones. 1984. Randomized controlled trial of adenine arabinoside monophosphate for chronic type B hepatitin. Gastroenterology 86:150-157.
- Hoofnagle, J.H. and E.A. Jones. 1989. Therapy of chronic viral hepatitis: Past, present, and future. Semin. Hiver dis. 9:231-234.
- Hoofnagle, J.H., M. Peter, K.D. Mullen, D.B. Jones, 7. Rustgi, A. Di Bisceglie, C. Hallahan, 7. Park, C. Meschievitz, and E.A. Jones. 1988. Randomized, controlled trial of recombinant human α-interferon in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Gastroenterology 95:1318-1325.

- Hruska, J.F., D.A. Clayton, J.L.R. Rubenstein, and W.S. Robinson. 1977. Structure of hepatitis B Dane particle DNA before and after the Dane particle DNA polymerase reaction. J. Virol. 21:666-672.
- Hunter, W.N., T. Brown, N.N. Anand, and O. Kennard. 1986. Structure of an adenine cytosine base pair in DNA and its implications for mismatch repair. Nature **320**:552-555.
- Jean-Jean, O., M. Levrero, H. Will, M. Perricaudet, and J-M. Rossignol. 1989. Expression mechanism of the hepatitis E virus (HBV) C gene and biosynthesis of HBe antigen. Virology 170:99-106.
- Jibert, A.R., J.S. Freiman, E.J. Gowans, M. Holmes, Y.E. Cossart, and C.J. Burrell. 1987. Duck hepatitis B virus DNA in liver, spleen, and pancreas: Analysis by in situ and Southern blot hybridization. Virology 158:330-338.
- Kaplan, P.M., R.L. Greenman, J.L. Gerin, R.H. Purcell, and W.S. Robinson. 1973. DNA polymerase associated with human hepatitis B antigen. J. Virol. 12:995-1005.
- Kassianides, C., J.H. Hoofnagle, R.H. Miller, E. Doo, H. Ford, S. Broder, and H. Mitsuya. 1989. Inhibition of duck hepatitis B virus replication by 2',3'dideoxycytidine. Gastroenterology 97:1275-1280.
- Kim, C-M., K. Koike, T. Miyamura, I. Saito, and G. Jay. 1990. Liver tumors and preneoplastic lesions in transgenic mice carrying the hepatitis B virus X gene, Abs. p. 140. In: Molecular biology of hepatitis B virus, San Diego, CA.
- Nitos, T.E., and D.L.J. Tyrrell. 1990. Intracellular metabolism of 2',3'-dideoxyguanosine, a potent inhibitor

157

of duck hepatitis B virus. Abs. p. 20. In: Molecula: biology of hepatitis B virus, San Diego, CA.

- Kodama, K., N. Ogasawara, H. Yoshikawa, and S. Murakami. 1985. Nucleotide sequence of a cloned woodchuck hepatitis virus genome: Evolutional relationship between hepadnaviruses. J. Virol. 56:978-986.
- Koff, R.S. 1989 The clinical features of acute viral hepatitis, p. 11-18. In: G. Gitnick (ed.), Modern concepts of acute and chronic hepatitis. Plenum Medical Book Company, New York and London.
- Koike, K., T. Akatsuka, and T. Miyamura. 1988. Characterization of hepatitis B virus X gene: In vitro translation of mRNA from COS-1 cells transfected with the X gene. Virology 163:233-235.
- Lam, K.C., C.L. Lai, and R.P.Ng. C. Trepo, and P.C. Wu. 1981. Deleterious effect of prednisolone in HBsAg-positive chronic active hepatitis. New Engl. J. Med. 304:380-386.
- Landers T.A., H.B. Greenberg, and W.S Robinson. 1977. Structure of hepatitis B Dane particle DNA and nature of the endogenous DNA polymerase reaction. J. Virol. 23:368-376.
- Lee, B., W. Luo, S. Suzuki, M.J. Robins, and D.L.J. Tyrrell. 1989. In vitro and in vivo comparison of the abilities of purine and pyrimidine 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides to inhibit duck hepadnavirus. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 33:336-339.
- Lien, J-M., C.E. Aldrich, and W.S. Mason. 1986. Evidence that a capped oligoribonucleotide is the primer for duck hepatitis B virus plus-strand DNA synthesis. J. Virol. 57:229-236.

- Lien, J-M., D.J. Petcu, C.E. Aldrich, and W.S. Mason. 1987. Initiation and termination of duck hepatitis B virus DNA synthesis during virus maturation. J. Virol. **61**:3832-3840.
- Liu, W., Z.R. Ding, D.H. Wang, L. Ding, and R.C. Li. 1990. A study on prevalence of maternal-fetus transmission of hepatitis B virus. Abs. p. 97. In: The 1990 international symposium on viral hepatitis and liver disease. Houston, Texas.
- Lofgren, B., E. Nordenfelt, and B. Oberg. 1989. Inhibition of RNA- and DNA-dependent duck hepatitis B virus DNA polymerase activity by nucleoside and pyrophosphate analogs. Antiviral Res **12**:301-310.
- Lok, A.S.F., C.L. Lai, P.C. Wu, J.Y.N. Lau, E.K.Y. Leung, and L.S.K. Wong. 1989. Treatment of chronic hepatitis B with interferon: experience in Asian patients. Simin Liver dis. 9:249-253.
- Loke, R.H.T., M.G. Anderson, J.C. Coleman, K.M. Tsquaye, A.J.Zuckerman, and I.M. Marray-Lyon. 1987. Suramin treatment for chronic active hepatitis B-toxic and ineffective. J. Med. Virol. 21:97-99.
- Lopez-Cabrera, M., J. Letorsky, K-Q. Hu, and A. Siddigui. 1990. Transcriptional factor C/EBP binds to and transactivates the enhancer element II. Abs. p. 92. In: Molecular biology of hepatitis B virus. San Diego, CA.
- Mandart, E., A. Kay, and F. Galibert. 1984. Nucleotide sequence of a cloned duck hepatitis B virus genome: Comparison with woodchuck and human hepatitis B virus sequences. J. Virol. 49:782-792

- Marion, P.L. 1988. Use of animal models to study hepatitis B virus. Prog. Med. Virol. **35**:43-75.
- Marion, P.L., S.S. Knight, M.A. Feitelson, L.S. Oshiro, and W.S. Robinson. 1983. Major polypeptide of duck hepatitis B surface antigen particles. J. Virol. 48:534-541.
- Marion, P.L., L.S. Oshiro, D.C. Regnery, G.H. Scullard, and W.S. Robinson. 1980. A virus in beechey ground squirvels that is related to hepatitis B virus of human. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 77:2941-2945.
- Mason, W.S., C. Aldrich, J. Summers, and J.M. Taylor. 1982. Symmetric replication of duck hepatitis B virus DNA in liver cells: Free minus-strand DNA . Proc. Natl. Acad.Sci. USA. 79:3997-4001.
- Mason, W.S., M.S. Halpern, J.M. England, G. Seal, J. Egan, L. Coates, C. Aldrich, and J. Summers. 1983. Experimental transmission of duck hepatitis B virus. Virology 131:375-384.
- Mason, W.S., G. Seal, and J. Summers. 1980. Virus of Pekin ducks with structural and biological relatedness to human hepatitis B virus. J. Virol. **36**:829-836.
- Maupas, P., and Mecnick. 1981. Hepatitis B infection and primary liver cancer. Prog. Med. Virol. 27:1-5.
- Mazzotta, F., F. Albertoni, E. Anzalone, ME. Bonaventura, Y. Di Nardo, M. Di Pietro, E. Franco, C. galanti, P. Mattioli, L. Perroni, C. Perucci, N. Petrosillo, A. Propati, M. Rapicetta, C. Ricci, C. Rozera, and G. Zullo. 1990. Intrafamilial HBV transmission in central Italy. Abs. p. 95. In: The 1990 international symposium on viral hepatitis and liver disease. Houston, Texas.

- Miller, R.H., C-T. Tran, and W.S. Robinson. 1984. Hepatitis B virus particles of plasma and liver contain viral DNA-RNA hybrid molecules. Virology **139**:53-63.
- Miller, R.H., S. Keneko, C.T. Chung, R. Girones, and R.H. Purcell. 1989. Compact organization of the hepatitis B virus genome. Hepatclogy 9:322-327.
- Molnar-Kimber, K., J. Summers, and W.S. Mason. 1984. Mapping of the cohesive overlap of duck hepatitis B virus DNA and of the site of initiation of reverse transcription. J. Virol. 51:181-191.
- Molnar-Kimber, K., J. Summers, J. Taylor, and W.S. Mason. 1983. Protein covalently bound to minus-strand DNA intermediates of duck hepatitis B virus. J. Virol. 45:165-172.
- Moroy, T., J. etiemble, C. Trepo, D. Tiollas, and M.A. Buendia. 1985. Transcription of woodchuck hepatitis virus in the chronically infected liver. EMBO J. 4:1507-1514.
- Neurath, A.R., S.B.H. Kent, N. Strick, and K. Parker. 1986. Identification and chemical synthesis of a host cell receptor binding site on hepatitis B virus. Cell 46:429-436.
- Neurath, A.R., S.B.H. Kent, N. Strick, P. Taylor, and C.E. Sterens. 1985. Hepatitis B virus contains pre-S geneencoded domains. Nature 315:154-156.
- Noonan, C.A., K.M. Schmaltz, W.T. Moore, B. Yoffe, and F.B. Hollinger. 1990. Expression of the HBV DNA polymerase using recombinant baculovirus system. Abs. p. 26. In: Molecular biology of hepatitis B virus. San Diego, CA.

- Nordenfelt, E., E. Helgstrand, and B. Oberg. 1979. Trisodium phosphonoformate inhibits hepatitis B Dane particle DNA polymerase. Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Scand. (B) 87B(1):75-76.
- Nordenfelt, E., A. Widell, B.G. Hansson, B. Lofgren, C. Moller-Melven, and B. Oberg. 1982. No in vivo effect or trisodium phosphonoformate on woodchuck hepatitis virus prodution. Acta Pathol.' Microbiol. Immunol. Scand. (B) 90(6):449-451.
- Nordenfelt, E., B. Lofgren, J. Chatto-Padhyaya, and B. Oberg. 1987. Inhibition of hepatitis b virus DNA polymerase by 3'-azido-3'-deoxythymidine triphosphate but not by its three analog. J. Med. Virol. 22:231-236.
- Okada, K., I. Kamiyama, M. Inomata, M. Imai, Y, Miyakawa, and M. Mayumi. 1976. e Antigen and anti-e in the serum of asymptomatic carrier mothers as indicators of positive and negative transmission of hepatitis B virus to their infants. New Engl. J. Med. **294**:746-749.
- Peeples, M.E., K. Komai, R. Radek, and M.J. Bankowski. 1987. A cultured cell receptor for the small S protein of hepatitis B virus. Virology 160:135-142.
- Perrillo, R.P. 1989. Interferon therapy for chronic type B hepatitis : The promise comes of age (Editorial). Gastroenterology 96:532-536.
- Perrillo, R.P. 1989. Treatment of chronic hepatitis B with interferon: Expression in Western countries. Simin. Liver Dis. 9:240-248.
- Perrillo, R.P., F.G. Regenstein, M.G. Peters, K. DeSchryver-Kecskemeti, C.J. Bodicky, C.R. Campbell, and M.C. Kukno. 1988. Prednisone withdrawal followed by recombinant.

alpha interferon in the treatment of chronic type B hepatitis. Ann. Intern. Med. **109**:95-100.

- Perrillo, R.P., E.R. schiff, G.L. Davis, H.C. Bodenheimer, K. Lindsay, J. Payne, J.L. Dienstag, C. O'Brien, C. Tamburro, I.M. Jacobson, R. Samplimer, D. Feit, J. Lefkowitch, M. Kuhns, C. Meschievitz, B. Sanghvi, J. Albrecht, A. Gibas, and the hepatitis interventional therapy group. 1990. A randomized, controlled trial of interferon alfa-ab alone and after prednisone withdrawal for the treatment of chronic hepatitis B. New Engl. J. Med. 323:295-300.
- Petcu, D.J., C.E., Aldrich, L. Coates, L.M. Taylor, and W.M. Mason. 1988. Suramin inhibits in vitro infection by duck hepatitis B virus, Rous sarcoma virus, and hepatitis delta virus. Virology 167:385-392.
- Petit, M-A., and J. Pillot. 1985. HBc and HBe antigenicity and DNA-binding activity of major core protein P22 in hepatitis b virus core particles isolated from the cytoplasm of human liver cells. J. Virol. **53**:543-551.
- Pfaff, E., J. Salfeld, K. Gmelin, H. Schaller, and L. Theimann. 1987. Synthesis of the X-protein of hepatitis B in vitro and detection of anti-X antibodies in human sera. Virology 158:456-460.
- Pohl, C.J., P.J. Cote, R.H. Purcell, and J.L. Gerin. 1986. Failure to detect polyalbumin-binding sites on the woodchuck hepatitis virus surface antigen: Implication for the pathogenesis of hepatitis B virus in human. J. Virol. 60:943-949.
- Price, P.M., R. Banerjee, and G. Acs. 1989. Inhibition of the replication of hepatitis B virus by the carbocyclic analogue of 2'-deoxyguanosine. Proc. Natl. Acad.Sci. USA. 86:8541-8544.

- Pugh, J.C., J.J. Sninsky, J.W. Summers, and E. Schaetter. 1987. Characterization of a pre-S polypeptide on the surface of infectious avian hepadnavirus particles. C. Virol. 61:1384-1390.
- Pugh, J., A. Zweidler, and J. Summers. 1989. Characterization of the major duck hepatitis B virus core particle protein. J. Virol. 63:1371-1376.
- Radziwill, G., W. Tucker, and H. Schaller. 1990. Mutatleman analysis of the hepatitis B virus P gene product: Leman structure and RNase H activity. J. Virol. 64:613-6.00.
- Radziwill, G., H. Zentgraf, H. Schaller, and V. Bosch. 1988. The duck hepatitis B virus DNA polymerase is trightly associated with the viral core structure and unable to switch to an exogenous templates. Virology 163:123-132.
- Robinson, W.S., D.A. Clayton, and R.L. Greenman. 1974. LHA of a huma n hepatitis B virus candidate. J. Virol. 14:384-391.
- Robinson, W.S., and R.L. Greenman. 1974. DNA polymerate in the core of the human hepatitis B virus candidate. J. Virol. 13:1231-1236.
- Robinson, W.S., R.H. Miller, and P.L. Marion. 1987. Hepadnaviruses and retroviruses share genome homology and features of replication. Hepatology **7**:645-730.
- Roossinck, M.J., S. Jameel, S.H. Loukin, and A.Biddigul. 1986. Expression of hepatitis B viral core region. In mammalian cells. Mol. Cell. Biol. **6**:1393-1400.
- Recossinck, M., and A. Siddiqui. 1987. In vivo phosphorylatiles and protein analysis of hepatitis B virus core antigen. J. Virol. 61:955-961.

- Sallberg, M., H. Norder, A. Linde, and L.O. Magnius. 1988. Subclass pattern of anti-HBc IgG in chronic hepatitis B: relation to HBeAg/anti-HBe and HBV DNA, p. 244-247. In: A.J. Zuckerman (ed.), Viral hepatitis and liver diseases. Alan R.Liss, Inc.
- Ochatz, O., J. Mous and S.F.J. Le Grice. 1990. HIV-1 RTassociated ribonuclease H displays both endonuclease and 3'→5' exonuclease activity. EMBO J. 9:1171-1176.
- Schlicht, H.J., C. Kuhn, B. Guhr, R.J. Mattaliano, and H. Schallar. 1987a. Biochemical and immunological characterization of the duck hepatitis virus envelope proteins. J. Virol. **61**:2280-2285.
- Schlicht, H.J., J. Salfeld, and H. Schaller. 1987b. The duck hepatitis B virus-preC region encodes a signal sequence which is essential for synthesis and secretion of processed core proteins but not for virus formation. J. Virol. **61**:3701-3709.
- Schlicht, H.J., G. Radziwill, and H. Schaller. 1989. Synthesis and encapsidation of duck hepatitis B virus reverse transcriptase do not require formation of core polymerase fusion proteins. Cell **56**:85-92.
- Scullard, G.H., R.B. Pollard, J.L. Smith, S.L. Sacks, P.B. Gregory, W.S. Robinson, and T.C. Merigan. 1981. Antiviral treatment of chronic hepatitis B virus infection. I: Changes in viral markers with interferon combined adenine arabinoside. J. Infect. Dis. 143:772-783.
- Seeff, L.B., and R.S. Koff. 1986. Evolving concepts of the clinical and serologic consequences of hepatitis B virus infection. Simin. Liver Dis. 6:11-22.

- Seeger, C., D. Ganem, and H.E. Varmus. 1984. Nucleotide sequence of an infectious molecularly cloned genome of ground squirrel hepatitis virus. J. Virol. 51:367-325.
- Seeger, C., D. Ganem, and H.E. Varmus. 1986. Biochemical and genetic evidence for the hepatitis B virus replication strategy. Science 232:477-484.
- Seeger, C., and J. Maragos. 1990. Genetic analysis of the origin of minus strand DNA synthesis of woodchnek hepatitis virus. Abs. p. 4. In: Molecular biology + hepatitis B viruses. San Diego, CA.
- Siddiqui, A., S. Jameel, and J. Mapoles. 1987. Expression of the hepatitis B virus X gene in mammalian cells. Proc. Natl. Acad.Sci. USA. 84:2513-2517.
- Sjogren, M., S.M. Lemon, W.K. Chung, H.S. Sun, J.H. Hoofnagle. 1984. IgM antibody to hepatitis B done antigen in Korean patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 4:615-618.
- Skinhøj, P., J. Cohn, and A.F. Bradburne. 1976. Transmission
 of hepatitis type B from healthy HBsAg-positive mothers.
 Br. Med. J. 1:10-11.
- Spandau, D., and C-H. Lee. 1988. Trans-activation of viral enhancers by the hepatitis B virus X protein. J. Virol. 62:427-434.
- Sprengel, R., C. Kuhn, H. Will, and H. Schaller. 1985. Comparative sequence analysis of duck and human hepatitis B virus genome. J. Med. Virol. **15**:323-333.
- Summers, J. 1981. Three recently described animal virus, models for human hepatitis B virus. Hepatology. 1:173-183.

- Summers, J., and W.S. Mason. 1982. Replication of the genome of a hepatitis B-like virus by reverse transcription of an RNA intermediate. Cell. **29**:403-415.
- Summers, J., A. O'Connell, and I. Millman. 1975. Genome of hepatitis B virus: Restriction enzyme cleavage and structure of DNA extracted from Dane particles. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. UCA. 72:4597-4601.
- Commers, J., P.M. Smith, and A.L. Horwich. 1990. Hepadnavirus envelope proteins regulate covalently closed circular DNA amplification. J. Virol. **64**:2819-2824.
- Summers, J., J.M. Smolec, and R. Snyder. 1978. A virus similar to human hepatitis B virus associated with hepatitis and hepatoma in woodchucks. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. **75**:4533-4537.
- Su, T.S., C-T. Lai, J-L. Huang, L-H. Lin, Y-K. Yauk, C. Chang, S.J. Lo, and S-H. Han. 1989. Hepatitis B virus transcript produced by RNA splicing. J. Virol. **63**:4011-4018.
- Suzuki, S., B. Lee, W. Luo, D. Tovell, M.J. Robins, and D.L.J. Tyrrell. 1988. Inhibition of duck hepatitis B virus replication by purine 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides. Biochem. Biophys. Resear. Commun. 156:1144-1151.
- Simuki, T., N. Masui, K. Kajino, I. Saito, and T. Miyamura. 1989. Detection and mapping of spliced RNA from a human hepatoma cell line transfected with the hepatitis B virus genome. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 86:8422-8426.
- Sumuness, W. 1978. Hepatocellular carcinoma and the hepatitis B virus: Evidence for a causal association. Prog. Med. Virol. **24**:40-69.

- Tagawa, M., M. Omata, and K. Okuda. 1986. Appearance of viral RNA transcripts in early stage of duck hepatitis B virus infection. Virology 152:477-482.
- Tao, P-Z., B. Lofgren, D. Jake-Bakaar, N.G. Johansson, R. Datema, and B. O'Berg. 1988. Inhibition of human hepatitis B virus DNA polymerase and duck hepatitis B virus DNA polymerase by triphosphates of thymidine analogs and pharmacokinetic properties of the corresponding nucleosides. J. Med. Virol. 26:352-394.
- Tiollais, P., P. Charnay, and G.N. Vuas. 1981. Biology of hepatitis B virus. Science **213**:406-411.
- Tsiquaye, K., and A. Zuckerman. 1985. Suramin inhibits duck hepatitis B virus DNA polymerase activity. 1(b):662-669.
- Tuttleman, J.S., C. Pourcel, and J. Summers. 1986. Formation of the pool of covalently closed circular viral DNA in hepadnavirus-infected cells. Cell **47**:451-460.
- Tuttleman, J.S., J.C. Pugh, and J.W. Summers. 1986. In vitro experimental infection of primary duck hepatocytocultures with duck hepatitis B virus. J. Virol. 58:17-25.
- Tygstrup, N., P.K. Andersen, E. Johl, and the trial group of the European association for the study of the liver. 1986. Steroids in chronic B-hepatitis. A randomized double-blind, multinational trial on the effect of lowdose, long-term treatment on survival. Liver **6**:227-232.
- Tyrrell, D.L.J., J. Preiksaitis, and L.D. Jewell. 1988. Histopathological and immunochemical evaluation of response of HBsAg-positive chronic active hepatitic patients to adenine arabinoside 5'-monophosphate

treatment, p. 925-929. In: A.J. Zuckerman (ed.), Viral hepatitis and liver diseases. Alan R.Liss, Inc.

- Twu, J-S., and W.S. Robinson. 1989. Hepatitis B virus X gene can transactivate heterologous viral sequences. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 86:2046-2050.
- Ueda, K., T. Tsurimoto, T. Nagahata, O. Chisaka, and K. Matsubara. 1989. An in vitro system for screening antihepatitis B virus drugs. Virology 169:213-216.
- Magar, M.A., M.J. Evans, K.F. Manly, R.G. Hughes, and J.A. Huberman. 1984. Effects of 2',3'-dideoxynucleosides on mammalian cells and viruses. J. Cell. Physiol. 121:402-408.
- Weller, I.V.D., M.F. Bassendine, A. Craxi, M.J.F. Fowler, J. Monjardino, H.C. Thomas, and S. Sherlock. 1982. Successful treatment of HBs and HBe Ag positive chronic liver disease: Prolonged inhibition of viral replication by highly soluble adenine arabinoside 5'-monophosphate (ARA-AMP). Gut 23:717-723.
- Weller, I.V.D., A.S.F. Lok, A. Mindel, P. Karayiannis, S. Galpin, J. Monjardino, S. Sherlock, and H.C. Thomas. 1985. Randomized controlled trial of adenine arabinoside 5'-monophosphate (ARA-AMP) in chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Gut 26:745-751.
- Werner, B.G., J.M. Smolec, R. Snyder, and J. Summers. 1979. Serological relationship of woodchuck hepatitis virus to human hepatitis B virus. J. Virol. **32**:314-322.
- Will, H., W. Reiser, T. Weimer, E. Pfaff, M. Buscher, R. Sprengel, R. Cattaneo, and H. Schaller. 1987. Replication strategy of human hepatitis B virus. J. Virol. 61:904-911.

- Wu, J.Y., J. Halaas, A. Judd, C. Cartwright, and W.S. Robinson. 1990. The hepatitis B virus encoded transcriptional transactivator HBX is a novel protein kinase. Abs. p. 136. In: Molecular biology of hepatitic B viruses. San Diego, CA.
- Wu, T-T., L. Coates, C.E. Aldrich, J. Summers, and W.S. Mason. 1990. In hepatocytes infected with duck hepatitic B virus, the template for viral RNA synthesis is amplified by an intracellular pathway. Virology 175:255-261.
- Yoffe, B., D.K. Burns, H.S. Bhatt, and B. Combers. 1990. Extrahepatic hepatitis B virus DNA sequences in patient: with acute hepatitis B infection. Hepatology **12**:187-192.
- Zuckerman, A.J. 1987. Screening of antiviral drug: for hepadnavirus infection in Pekin ducks: a review. d. Virol. Methods. 17:119-126.